Neath Port Talbot County Borough Council
Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Castell-nedd
Democratic Services
Gwasanaethau Democrataidd

Decision Notice
REGENERATION AND SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT - URGENCY
ACTION , FRIDAY, 20TH MARCH, 2020

Please see below approval of decision as follows:

1.

Countryside and Rights of Way (CROW) Act 2000 –
Consideration of: the responses to the comments received
following consultation on the draft Rights of Way Improvement
Plan (ROWIP); and the publication procedures to be
implemented - 4 AM (Pages 3 - 108)
To consider the responses to comments received following
consultation on the draft Rights of Way Improvement Plan
(ROWIP); and the publication procedures to be implemented.
That the responses to the representations received as set out in
Appendix 1 to the circulated report be agreed and that the
revised ROWIP as set out in Appendix 2 to the circulated report
be approved and published.
For Immediate Implementation

Yours sincerely

p.p Chief Executive

2

Agenda Item 1

NEATH PORT TALBOT COUNCIL

Regeneration & Sustainable Development Cabinet Board
20th March 2020

Report of the Head of Planning and Public Protection
Ceri Morris

Matter for Decision
Wards Affected:

All

Countryside and Rights of Way (CROW) Act 2000 – Consideration of:
the responses to the comments received following consultation on
the draft Rights of Way Improvement Plan (ROWIP); and the
publication procedures to be implemented.
Purpose of the Report
To consider the responses to comments received following consultation on
the draft Rights of Way Improvement Plan (ROWIP); and the publication
procedures to be implemented.
Executive Summary
Under Section 60 of the (CROW) Act 2000 (the Act), the Council has a
statutory duty to prepare a ‘Rights of Way Improvement Plan’ (ROWIP).
The ROWIP sets out how the Council intends to improve access to the
countryside over a 10 year period.
The ROWIP for Neath Port Talbot was initially produced and published for
the period 2008-2018. In 2017, under section 60(3) and (4) of the Act, the
Council undertook a new assessment, including consultation to determine
whether a review of the ROWIP was required.
In September 2018, based on the outcome of the assessment, Cabinet
Board resolved to undertake a review of the ROWIP and subsequently, the

Page 3

1

draft ROWIP was the subject of a 12 week public consultation exercise late
in 2019.
This report therefore seeks endorsement of the responses to the
comments received and the publication procedures to be implemented.
Background
The Neath Port Talbot ROWIP was initially prepared and published for the
period 2008-2018.
In 2017, and in accordance with legislation, the Council undertook an
assessment of current provision and carried out a public consultation
exercise to gather views on the quality and condition of Public Rights of
Way and the wider countryside, their use of these routes and the measures
that could be taken to encourage greater use of the countryside.
Based on the assessment and the fact that since publication of the first
ROWIP, there have been a number of changes in Wales that would have a
bearing on future management of the network and access to the
countryside, the decision was taken to prepare a new ROWIP for Neath
Port Talbot.
Rights of Way Improvement Plan (2020-2030)
Covering the period 2020-2030, the plan sets out the means by which the
Council intends to improve and promote access to the countryside across
Neath Port Talbot over the next decade.
The ROWIP is structured into three parts:
 PART 1: Introduction and Background – provides a summary of the
key drivers in the national, regional and local context, along with a
description of the County Borough and the opportunities for public
access to the countryside.
 PART 2: Assessment of Access Provision and Use – outlines the
outcome of the assessment in regard to access provision and use of
this resource across Neath Port Talbot and identifies the key issues
to be addressed moving forward.
 PART 3: Statement of Action – outlines the vision, objectives and
policies of the plan, along with the means by which the plan will be
delivered and monitored.

Page 4

2

Consultation Responses
The consultation ran for 12 weeks from 24th September to 17th December
2019. The Council received a total of 84 comments from 10 different
individuals or organisations. Responses in relation to the comments
received, highlighting proposed changes to the document where relevant,
are set out in Appendix 1.
A revised final version of the ROWIP, highlighting proposed amendments
as ‘tracked changes’, is presented in Appendix 2. The main changes
proposed relate to the following:
 Clarification that a screening process has been undertaken,
confirming that a Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) is not
required.
 Formatting and restructuring to give greater prominence to the
Statement of Action.
 Greater prominence in the Statement of Action (Objective 1) for the
potential role of volunteers / the public in maintenance and survey of
Public Rights of Way.
 A new policy, and amendments to existing policies in relation to the
requirements for flood risk assessments, improvements for biodiversity
and improvement of access for all.
 Greater recognition of the role that the canal towpaths have for
cycling.
Publication Procedures
Once approved the ROWIP will be made available on the Council’s
website and hard copies of the document will be made available for public
inspection on request.
In accordance with the Council’s Welsh Language Standards Policy the
ROWIP will also be made available in Welsh.
Financial Impacts
The decisions will incur expenditure in relation to the publication
procedures. These costs will be accommodated within existing budgets.

Page 5

3

Given that there is no additional Welsh Government funding being made
available for the delivery of the plan, the plan reflects the current budget of
the Countryside & Wildlife Team and will make best use of external funding
to deliver additional improvement works.
Integrated Impact Assessment
A first stage impact assessment has been undertaken to assist the Council
in discharging its legislative duties under the Equality Act 2010, the Welsh
Language Standards (No.1) Regulations 2015, the Well-being of Future
Generations (Wales) Act 2015 and the Environment (Wales) Act 2016.
The first stage assessment, attached at Appendix 3, has indicated that a
more in-depth assessment is not required. A summary is included below:
 Equalities – the Plan is intended to be inclusive, aiming to
encourage greater use of Public Rights of Way and the wider
countryside by all community members.
 Welsh Language – the Plan will be inclusive, aiming to encourage
all community members to be involved. The Plan and all public
communications will be bilingual.
 Biodiversity – a Service Assessment has been carried as part of the
Biodiversity Duty Plan requirements, and appropriate working
practices are in place to avoid impact on biodiversity. Policy for the
protection of biodiversity is embedded into the ROWIP.
 Well-being of Future Generation (5 ways of Working) – The 5
ways of working has been followed in the review of the Plan, and will
continue to be followed in delivery of the Plan.
Valleys Communities Impacts
No implications.
Workforce Impacts
No implications.
Legal Impacts
No implications.
Risk Management Impacts

Page 6

4

No implications.
Consultation
This item has been subject to external consultation.
Recommendations
That having considered the report, it is resolved to make the following
recommendation for approval:
1. That the responses to the representations received as set out in
Appendix 1 be agreed and that the revised ROWIP as set out in
Appendix 2 be approved and published.
Reasons for Proposed Decision
The recommendation is made to ensure compliance with the CROW Act
2000 and to put a framework in place for the management and
improvement of our Public Rights of Way for the next 10 years.
Implementation of Decision
The decision is for immediate implementation.

Appendices
Appendix 1 – Responses and Recommendations to the ROWIP
Representations.
Appendix 2 – Rights of Way Improvement Plan (2020-2030) Tracked
Changes – February 2020.
Appendix 3 – ROWIP (2020-2030) First Stage Integrated Impact
Assessment.
List of Background Papers
The Countryside and Rights of Way (CROW) Act 2000.

Page 7

5

Officer Contact
Lana Beynon – Planning Policy Manager
Tel: 01639 686314 or e-mail: l.beynon@npt.gov.uk
Catrin Evans – Countryside & Wildlife Team Leader
Tel: 01639 686056 or e-mail: c.a.evans@npt.gov.uk

Page 8

6

APPENDIX 1
Responses and Recommendations to the ROWIP Representations
Rights of Way Improvement Plan
Name

Page 9

David
Bleines

David
Bleines

Organisation Section Paragraph

People and
Places
Officer, South
West Wales
Natural
Resources
Wales

People and
Places
Officer, South
West Wales
Natural
Resources
Wales

2

2

Representation

Officer Response

2.0.0

We welcome the inclusion of the South
Wales Area Statement’s emerging themes
and NPT Public Service Board’s Wellbeing
Objectives in your ROWIP. A clear link
between the ROWIP, South Wales Area
Statement and NPT Public Service Board is
the potential for Green Infrastructure/Active
Travel and community-based recreation
opportunities to improve health outcomes,
health inequality and to build a sense of
ownership and value in the local
environment. A range of NPT Public Service
Board partners, already working under the
Green Infrastructure sub-group, are
interested in developing these opportunities.
NRW would be happy to work to linking up
with these groups.

A member of the
Countryside and
Wildlife Team
currently sits on the
Green Infrastructure
Sub-group. Further
opportunities for
partnership working
would be welcomed.

2.0.0

We remind you that the preparation of your
ROWIP falls under Article 2(a) of the
Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA)
Directive. A failure to screen the plan
against the need for SEA would leave the
subsequent adoption of your plan open to
challenge in the event that SEA had been
required for that plan. Should you choose
not to follow this advice, then you should add
a paragraph to the RoWIP either justifying

Agreed – Add a
paragraph at start of
Section 2 Policy
Context

Officer
Recommendation

Not applicable.

That the following
amendments be
incorporated into the
ROWIP.
Add the following to the
start of Section 2,
renaming the section as
Policy and Legislative

Name

Organisation Section Paragraph

Representation
why you haven’t undertaken SEA and/or
justifying why you have not undertaken an
SEA screening exercise.

Officer Response

Officer
Recommendation
Context

Page 10

The preparation of the
ROWIP falls within the
scope of Article 2(a) of
the Strategic
Environmental
Assessment (SEA)
Directive. The Directive
states that its objective
is “to provide for a high
level of protection of
the environment and to
contribute to the
integration of
environmental
considerations into the
preparation and
adoption of plans and
programmes with a
view to promoting
sustainable
development”. The
Directive recognises,
however, that an SEA
need only be
undertaken if a plan is
likely to lead to
significant
environmental effects.
After screening the
ROWIP using the
information contained
in “A Practical Guide to

Name

Organisation Section Paragraph

Representation

Officer Response

Officer
Recommendation
the Strategic
Environmental
Assessment Directive”
it is the Council’s
judgement that the
actions and policies
contained within the
ROWIP are not likely to
lead to significant
environmental effects
and that a SEA is not
required.

Page 11

Mrs
Jane
Hennell

Mr
Norman
Burns

Mr
Owen
Jordan

Area Planner
Canal and
River Trust

2

3.1

3.2

Please rename. this is not the Pontardawe
Canal. It is the Swansea Canal.

Photo 2.1. Comment Change title of Photo 2.1
supported.
to ‘Swansea Canal’

3.1.3

While appropriate mention is made of
attractions immediately outside NPT, such as
the 'Waterfall Country', I suggest there is an
omission in not including Fforest Fawr
Geopark - it is after all credited by UNESCO
as having global significance and the
Geopark has produced many leaflets
introducing visitors to a range of walks
featuring local geology (indeed, along with
club members I've walked a number of
them).

Noted, however the
site is no longer
actively promoted
That there be no change
and we have focused
to the ROWIP
on drawing attention
to currently promoted
areas.

3.2.6

Within NPT borough it is not really clear
exactly where this starts or finishes, since
the boundary runs in part along the
alignment. The path ends at the west end of
Brynaman rugby field and does not resume
the former rail alignment until it is behind the

The route in NPT is
not a cycleroute but
is on the Integrated
Network Map for
possible delivery
through Active

Picture 2.1

That there be no change
to the ROWIP

Name

Organisation Section Paragraph

Representation

Officer Response

former Remploy factory in Brynamman. In
between it has a poor road crossing, some
very poor surface, an almost un-navigable
kissing gate (for our tandem), a thoroughly
nasty hill onto the main road, made worse by
barriers, and an even worse steep hill with
hairpin bends to regain the rail alignment at
the east end. That could do with
improvement; I carry scars from the poor
surface on the hairpins. I admit the rail
alignment is badly compromised, but the
present route is simply dreadful.

Travel, however
there are challenges
in delivery of this
route. The Section
beyond the Forge
Washery is in
Carmarthenshire and
the comments will be
passed on to
Carmarthenshire
colleagues.

Page 12

At Cwmllynfell, the cycleway ends,
eventually you have to take to the main road
to Cwmtwrch, which is not everyone's cup of
tea. In the upwards direction I use the
footpath from the Twrch gorge, not the
Berrington hill, but the rail alignment
bypassing this still is nearly complete. No
sign of its use though.
Clydach to Ystalyfera has seen works at the
Clydach end, but there is a very poor section
through Pontardawe industrial estate. No, an
abysmal section, which we ignore and go on
the road.Even then the presence of the
cycleway represents a hazard when on the
road. At Clydach there is a very poor road
crossing where the canal crosses the main
road by the lower (and now only) lock.
Diversion through the lock pit and under the
bridge looks practical; the lock masonry is
never going to be used again for boats, so

An alternative route
is proposed on the
Integrated Network
Map for possible
delivery through
Active Travel,
although there are
challenges in delivery
of this route.
The sections through
the industrial estate
are currently being
improved via Active
Travel. The section
of cycletrack through
Clydach is outside
the NPT boundary.
Comments Noted.
The improvements
are proposed on the

Officer
Recommendation

Name

Organisation Section Paragraph

Representation
an imaginative conversion would secure the
lock chamber for posterity. At Coedgwilym,
the path is a walk-only underbridge for the
main road crossing. Again, centering the
path with the bridge arch looks fairly easy
and inexpensive.
The standard of maintenance on the railway
path 'main line' section from Ponty to
Ystalyfera, which used to be a first class
surface, is now such that it is not fit for use
after dark, esp in winter. Adhesion factors
are alarmingly low, I have met black ice from
surface water from blocked drains, and
scattered debris is the normal state.

Officer Response

Officer
Recommendation

Integrated Network
Map for possible
delivery through
Active Travel.
We’re not aware of
this proposed route
although we do
actively work with our
Carmarthenshire
colleagues.

Page 13

Finally, there is the cycleway that never was;
GCG to Abernant. I designed this for
Sustrans nearly a decade ago. Where is it?

David
Bleines

People and
Places
Officer, South
West Wales
Natural
Resources
Wales

That the following
amendments be
incorporated into the
ROWIP

3.2

3.2.9

The text ‘has granted public rights’ may be
misleading. Consider changing to ‘allowed
access’ for clarity.

Section 3.2.9
Agreed

These are paths over
which the landowner
has allowed access.
The rights may be on
foot, horseback or on
pedal cycle, but rarely do
they include the right to

Name

Organisation Section Paragraph

Representation

Officer Response

Officer
Recommendation
drive motor vehicles. The
landowner may withdraw
this right at any point in
the future.

Mr
Garry
Marvelley

3.2

3.2.9

You say the right to use permissive paths
can be withdrawn at any time by the
landowner. There is no mention of when
there is need to divert an existing right of
way to a permissive path for whatever
reason, that if the land owner withdraws
permission to use that path, the path reverts
to the original right of way.

3.2.11

Given that Welsh Government Woodland
Estate covers 29% of the area of Neath Port
Talbot, we welcome the recognition in the
Draft ROWIP that the land we manage has a
role in meeting public access needs and
share a desire to work together to achieve
Noted, this will be
these benefits.
explored further as
part of ongoing
delivery.
The NRW Land Management team values
the close working relationship that already
exists with the local authority Rights of Way
team. As part of your ROWIP delivery plan,
we would welcome opportunities to work with
you to identify shared outcomes. For

Page 14
David
Bleines

People and
Places
Officer, South
West Wales
Natural
Resources
Wales

3.2

The reason for a
permissive diversion
is usually to gauge
the reaction to the
alternative before
processing a legal
order. Given the
That there be no change
legislative protection
to the ROWIP
for PROW that
already exists, should
a landowner
withdraw a
permissive path, the
path will revert to the
original PROW.

Not applicable

Name

Organisation Section Paragraph

Representation

Officer Response

Officer
Recommendation

example, there may be opportunities and
actions emerging from the recreational
strategy for Afan Forest Park, which we are
already working with you to commission,
which could benefit from being integrated in
the ROWIP delivery plan.

In addition to leaflets on NRW managed
trails, the public can access information on
where to go via multiple web-based
applications such as the NRW website, Afan
Forest Park website, and public websites
such as Mountain Bike Wales).

Page 15

David
Bleines

People and
Places
Officer, South
West Wales
Natural
Resources
Wales

Further information about how people can
use the land we manage is set out in our
Position statements:
3.2

3.2.11

https://naturalresources.wales/daysNoted.
out/recreation-and-access-policy-advice-andguidance/using-the-land-we-manage-foryour-activities-position-statements/?lang=en
Maps showing the location of Forest Roads
are available on the Lle portal. This could
provide a useful starting point to look at
opportunities to improve connectivity where a
partnership approach could bring wider
benefits. Alternatively, you may already have
some priorities you would like to share with
us.

That the following
amendments be
incorporated into the
ROWIP
Change the text for
3.2.11 to
The Countryside and
Rights of Way (CROW)
Act 2000 provided a
public right of access on
foot to areas of
mountain,moor,heath or
down, which
includes common land.
The Act also provides
landowners with the
opportunity to dedicate
their land for public
access, which has been
done by Welsh
Government Woodland
Estate for all of its
freehold estate. Further
information about how
people can use land

Name

Organisation Section Paragraph

Representation

Officer Response

Officer
Recommendation
that NRW manage is set
out in Position
Statements on their
website, whilst maps
can be found in webbased locations such
as the Lle portal and
NRW website.

Page 16

David
Bleines

David
Bleines

People and
Places
Officer, South
West Wales
Natural
Resources
Wales

People and
Places
Officer, South
West Wales
Natural
Resources
Wales

That the following
amendments be
incorporated into the
ROWIP

3.2

3.2

3.2.11

3.2.11

Consider replacing 'which includes all
common land' with 'and common' as not all
common land is mountain, moor, heath or
down.

May be misleading. The forest land that
NRW manage should be referred to as
Welsh Government Woodland Estate to
reflect that it is owned by Welsh
Government, which instructs NRW to
manage it.

3.2.11
Agreed.

The Countryside and
Rights of Way (CROW)
Act 2000 provided a
public right of access on
foot to areas of mountain,
moor, heath, down and
common.
That the following
amendments be
incorporated into the
ROWIP

Agreed.

3.2.11
….. The Act also provides
landowners with the
opportunity to dedicate

Name

Organisation Section Paragraph

Representation

Officer Response

Officer
Recommendation
their land for public
access, which has been
done by Welsh
Government Woodland
Estate for all of its
freehold estate. The land
is indicated on maps
prepared by NRW.

David
Bleines

Page 17
David
Bleines

People and
Places
Officer, South
West Wales
Natural
Resources
Wales

People and
Places
Officer, South
West Wales
Natural
Resources
Wales

3.2

3.2

3.2.12

There are a high number of unofficial /
unauthorised MTB trails which are classed
as wild trails. These are unmanaged and
therefore pose a risk to users and
landowner. This is currently being reviewed
internally and advice is being developed as
to our approach in managing these trails
which may be of interest to the authority.

Noted. We welcome
the approach being
taken.

Not applicable.

3.2.12

NRW and the British Horse Society (BHS)
have a mutually agreed concordat, setting
out our collaborative approach to horseriding. This applies to permissive access for
horse riding and carriage driving on forest
roads and tracks on NRW managed freehold
Welsh Government Woodland Estate in
addition to any bridleways that may be
present. The concordat does not generally
apply to leasehold estate. The concordat has
recently been updated and makes a
commitment for NRW and the BHS to
"Consider opportunities to manage, improve
and enhance equestrian access, especially
in linking existing networks of PRoW,
promoted routes and forest roads. Work
together to identify and prioritise

Noted, we would
welcome the
opportunity to input
where required.

Not applicable.

Name

Organisation Section Paragraph

Representation

Officer Response

Officer
Recommendation

development and source funding to carry out
the work." NRW will be looking at the detail
of how we do this in a consistent manner
across Wales and we would welcome input
from Neath Port Talbot.

Mr
Stephen
Todd

Page 18

Mr
Stephen
Todd

Mrs
Elaine
Jones

4.1

4.1

4.1

Due to budgetary
pressures annual
monitoring of the
network is no long
carried out, therefore
this information does
not exist.

4.1.2

At extent of PROW show previous years to
see if this getting better or worse over time
(up to 10 years prior)

4.1.3

Table 4.1.1 in the
ROWIP has a
Breakdown KM lengths to show walkers x
breakdown on
KM, Horse riders x KM, cyclists X Km etc.
current status. Due
Use these as key performance indicators
to budgetary
(K.P.I’s) to judge future success ie always
pressures annual
aim to increase KM and area covered access
monitoring KPIs are
year on year
no longer being
monitored.

4.1.3

Encourage and support other individuals
/organisations or groups to survey on your
behalf.

That there be no change
to the ROWIP

That there be no change
to the ROWIP.

That the following
additional action be
incorporated into the
Additional public
involvement in survey ROWIP
of the PROW would
be welcomed and
7.0.4 Actions will deliver
could be built into
against the following
Objective 1 of the
themes:
Statement of Action.
- Involvement –
facilitate and encourage

Name

Organisation Section Paragraph

Representation

Officer Response

Officer
Recommendation
public involvement in
activities that support
management of PROW.

Mr
CT
Griffiths

4.1

Page 19

Clerk
Pontardawe
Town Council

Mr
CT
Griffiths

4.1

4.1

4.1.3

4.1.6

4.1.6

This table is hardly relevant as path surveys
are no longer undertaken. These figures
indicate past performance only and the
present performance can only be assumed.
With reductions in budgets and staff,
performance figures are likely to be
somewhat worse.

Noted, however as
this is the only data
that is available to us, That there be no change
it’s felt there is some to the ROWIP.
value in providing this
information.

Pontardawe, Rhyd y Fro, Trebanos and
Ynysmeudwy seemed under-represented.

Noted. This is a
historic situation, as
the network has
come into being from
information supplied That there be no change
to the ROWIP.
by the Parish
Councils on the
network they
believed to be PROW
in the 1950s.

Surely, this document is about PROW
improvement not seemingly accepting the
current position, as this paragraph seems to
suggest. Paragraph should suggest
improvements where they are identified
throughout the document period.

That the following
amendments be
Agreed. The ROWIP incorporated into the
ROWIP
is intended
to improve the
Rights of Way
4.1.6 Since the network
Network and this
of PROW is basically a
should be
historic one, it does not
appropriately
always meet current
reflected.
needs. The impact of any
such deficiencies are
reduced when other

Name

Organisation Section Paragraph

Representation

Officer Response

Officer
Recommendation
forms of countryside
access are considered,
however opportunities to
improve the access
provision are actively
pursued and will continue
to be an integral part of
future delivery.

Mr
Norman
Burns

4.2

4.2.2

Page 20
Mrs
Jane
Hennell

Area Planner
Canal and
River Trust

4.2

4.2.2

Having a family member who uses a
wheelchair I applaud the achievements in
already 'offering easy access opportunities
for less able users', with Policy 5 (p. 34) set
to expand that provision.

Noted. The statement
That there be no change
of support is
to the ROWIP
welcomed.

Section 4.2 Can the point be made that all
the Swansea Canal towpath is available for
cycling? This omission, combined with the
text in 4.3 implies that the canal towpath can
only be used by walkers. Whilst sections
may be more suitable for walkers, and in
particular some sections are ideal for those
with limited mobility, the document should
not imply that this is the only way in which
the towpath can be used to access the
countryside or allow commuting between
settlements.

Section 4.2.2 – Change
text to “National Cycle
Network (NCN) 887 was
created in 2013 as part of
the Lottery funded
Connect 2 scheme,
creating a cycle route
Comment supported,
between Aberafan
although it should be
Seafront, Port Talbot,
noted that there is no
Cwmavon, Pontrhydyfen
formal access to
and Afan Forest Park, the
Swansea Canal
majority of which is offLocal Nature
road. In addition there are
Reserve.
sections of the Neath
Canal towpath which
have been recently
improved and are open to
cycling by permission of
the Neath Canal
Navigation

Name

Organisation Section Paragraph

Representation

Officer Response

Officer
Recommendation
Company. Swansea
Canal (with exception to
Swansea Canal Local
Nature Reserve) is also
available for cycling by
permission of the Canal
and River Trust
(Glandwr Cymru in
Wales), both canals
offering easy access
opportunities for less
able users.”

Page 21
David
Bleines

People and
Places
Officer, South
West Wales
Natural
Resources
Wales

Given that Welsh
Government
Woodland Estate
covers 29% of the
area of Neath Port
Talbot, we welcome
the recognition in the
Draft ROWIP that the
land we manage has
The NRW Land Management team values
a role in meeting
the close working relationship that already
public access needs Not applicable
exists with the local authority Rights of Way
and share a desire to
team. As part of your ROWIP delivery plan,
work together to
we would welcome opportunities to work with achieve these
you to identify shared outcomes. For
benefits.
example, there may be opportunities and
actions emerging from the recreational
The NRW Land
strategy for Afan Forest Park, which we are
Management team
already working with you to commission,
values the close
which could benefit from being integrated in
working relationship
the ROWIP delivery plan.
that already exists
Given that Welsh Government Woodland
Estate covers 29% of the area of Neath Port
Talbot, we welcome the recognition in the
Draft ROWIP that the land we manage has a
role in meeting public access needs and
share a desire to work together to achieve
these benefits.

4.2

4.2.4

Name

Organisation Section Paragraph

Representation

Officer Response

Officer
Recommendation

Page 22

with the local
authority Rights of
Way team. As part of
your ROWIP delivery
plan, we would
welcome
opportunities to work
with you to identify
shared
outcomes. For
example, there may
be opportunities and
actions emerging
from the recreational
strategy for Afan
Forest Park, which
we are already
working with you to
commission, which
could benefit from
being integrated in
the ROWIP delivery
plan.

David
Bleines

People and
Places
Officer, South
West Wales
Natural
Resources
Wales

4.2

4.2.4

As referred to in section 4.2.4 of the ROWIP,
the official Mountain biking routes managed
by us are valuable resource to the area. In
response to your points about managing
conflicts between walkers and mountain
bikers, understanding the issues surrounding
conflict between users on the NRW
managed estate has meant that wider
promotion of activity type is important so that
users are aware of what is expected of them
whilst carrying out different types of

Noted. The
promotion of
mountain bike routes
and the expected
responsibilities is
welcomed.

Not applicable

Name

Organisation Section Paragraph

Representation

Officer Response

Officer
Recommendation

recreation.

Mrs
Jane
Hennell

Area Planner
Canal and
River Trust

4.3

4.3.1

Page 23
David
Bleines

People and
Places
Officer, South
West Wales
Natural
Resources
Wales

4.6

4.6

Section 4.3.1 – Change
text to “The remnant
canal network in Neath
Port Talbot provides a
highly valued and locally
significant means of
We suggest replacement text for 4.3.1.
countryside access.
Canal towpaths
4.3.1 The canal network in Neath Port Talbot Comment supported,
alongside the Swansea
although it should be
comprises of the Swansea, Neath and
and Neath canals allow
noted that
Tennant Canals. Their towpaths are multigood cycling
permissions for
functional assets which are highly valued
opportunities and,
Tennant Canal are
and provide a locally significant means of
along with the Tennant
for walkers only.
countryside access for both cyclists and
Canal, offer walkers of
walkers as well acting as a commuter route
all abilities an
between settlements.
opportunity to walk
through the
Countryside, whilst also
acting as commuter
routes between
settlements.
NRW and the British Horse Society (BHS)
have a mutually agreed concordat, setting
out our collaborative approach to horseriding. This applies to permissive access for
horse riding and carriage driving on forest
roads and tracks on NRW managed freehold
Welsh Government Woodland Estate in
addition to any bridleways that may be
present. The concordat does not generally
apply to leasehold estate. The concordat has
recently been updated and makes a

Noted. The
opportunity to input
into the approach to
be taken is
welcomed.

Not applicable.

Name

Organisation Section Paragraph

Representation

Officer Response

Officer
Recommendation

commitment for NRW and the BHS to
"Consider opportunities to manage, improve
and enhance equestrian access, especially
in linking existing networks of PRoW,
promoted routes and forest roads. Work
together to identify and prioritise
development and source funding to carry out
the work." NRW will be looking at the detail
of how we do this in a consistent manner
across Wales and we would welcome input
from Neath Port Talbot.

Page 24

David
Bleines

David
Bleines

People and
Places
Officer, South
West Wales
Natural
Resources
Wales

People and
Places
Officer, South
West Wales
Natural
Resources
Wales

4.6

4.6

4.6

4.6.1

May be misleading. The forest land that
NRW manage should be referred to as
Welsh Government Woodland Estate to
reflect that it is owned by Welsh
Government, which instructs NRW to
manage it.

That the following
amendments be
incorporated into the
ROWIP
Agreed.

It might be helpful to clarify that Access Land
comprises Open Country, Common Land
and Dedicated Land (not all Welsh
Agreed.
Government Woodland Estate or NRW
owned land is dedicated.)

4.6.1
- 9,784 hectares freehold
estate of Welsh
Government Woodland
Estate
That the following
amendments be
incorporated into the
ROWIP
4.6.1 Whilst PROW
provide the main linear
means of access in Neath
Port Talbot, there are
also extensive areas of
Access Land which
comprises Open

Name

Organisation Section Paragraph

Representation

Officer Response

Officer
Recommendation
Country, Common Land
and Dedicated Land
currently comprising:

Page 25

David
Bleines

People and
Places
Officer, South
West Wales
Natural
Resources
Wales

4.6

4.6.3

We acknowledge the reference in 4.6.3 to
historic issues with overplanting of PRoW
and your assertion that in practice, people
find their way around using alternative
routes. We are not aware of any specific
paths affected in this way although over time
through either active restocking or allowing
natural regeneration to occur, some linear
routes could have become overgrown
through the lack of use and their subsequent
maintenance and not as a direct result of
over planting. Current Forest operations
practices ensure that any PRoW are
identified, clear of harvesting residue and are
not overplanted. However, uncertainty about
routes is not desirable from a user or land
manager perspective and in this context, we
would welcome discussion with you about
any specific paths that you feel have been
affected in this way.
We would welcome the opportunity to help
you review the Rights of Way network in light
of the emerging priorities from the
ROWIP. This would help us target our
limited budgets in the most effective way
where the need for improvement works has
been established through this strategic
process and where a partnership approach
could bring wider benefits.

Noted, we would
welcome the
opportunity to
discuss specific
issues and would be
able to provide
further detail of
overplanted paths.

Not applicable.

Name

David
Bleines

Organisation Section Paragraph
People and
Places
Officer, South
West Wales
Natural
Resources
Wales

4.8

4.8.3

Representation
There are a high number of unofficial /
unauthorised MTB trails which are classed
as wild trails. These are unmanaged and
therefore pose a risk to users and
landowner. This is currently being reviewed
internally and advice is being developed as
to our approach in managing these trails
which may be of interest to the authority.

Officer Response

Noted. Further
information on the
outcome of the
review would be
welcomed.

Officer
Recommendation

Not applicable.

That the following
amendments be
incorporated into the
ROWIP

Page 26

Add to the end of

Mr
CT
Griffiths

4.11

4.11.1

It is stated elsewhere that path surveys are
no longer undertaken, so there cannot be
information to indicate where access
problems exist. This paragraph should be
rephrased to indicate this.

Agreed.

4.11.1 Whilst there is
wide ranging access
provision in Neath Port
Talbot, there are localised
areas that will need to be
addressed as part of the
Delivery Plan. Previous
performance indicators
and feedback from
users demonstrate that
access problems exist on
substantial parts of the
PROW network through
lack of maintenance or
obstruction, and the need
to continue efforts to
open up neglected paths
will continue throughout

Name

Organisation Section Paragraph

Representation

Officer Response

Officer
Recommendation
the period of this plan.

David
Bleines

People and
Places
Officer, South
West Wales
Natural
Resources
Wales

Understanding the issues surrounding
conflict between users on the NRW
managed estate has shown that wider
promotion of activity type is important so that
users are aware of what is expected of them
whilst carrying out different types of
recreation.

7.0.8
4

4.0.0

Page 27
David
Bleines

People and
Places
Officer, South
West Wales
Natural
Resources
Wales

That the following
amendments be
incorporated into the
ROWIP

5

5

We suggest responsible recreation can be
Agreed.
promoted off NRW managed estate across
the wider PRoW network including footpaths
and bridleways. Identifying where conflicts
and issues might occur in advance can
assist educating users about behaviours that
will encourage them share the space safely.
In support of this approach, we promote the
family of Countryside Codes which are
available on our website should you wish to
reference these.
The countryside code information also has
relevance to your actions identified in section
7. Vision and Objectives under Objective
5. We agree that there are opportunities to
link on-site provision (signage etc) to
Agreed.
information online that supports the wider
use of sites for various types of outdoor
recreation, to promote responsible use and
highlight what behaviours are expected of
users. This includes shared trail use and dog
walking codes as an example.

Provisions of information
– to include the
promotion of the
Countryside Code,
improvements to online
material and further
exploration of digital
technology

That the following
amendments be
incorporated into the
ROWIP
7.0.8
Provisions of information
– to include the
promotion of the
Countryside Code,
improvements to online
material and further
exploration of digital

Name

Organisation Section Paragraph

Representation

Officer Response

Officer
Recommendation
technology

Page 28

David
Bleines

Mr
Garry
Marvelley

People and
Places
Officer, South
West Wales
Natural
Resources
Wales

5

6.1

5.0.0

We acknowledge that you have sought input
from the public and users of the network, the
WG guidance (4.16 – 4.23) emphasises key
points around assessing the needs of the
public. Whilst we appreciate the challenges
of getting sufficient response to give a robust
understanding of public need, we think
additional evidence would help justify that
Noted. The
the actions in the ROWIP are evidenceprinciples of the
based.
Wellbeing Plan were
considered in
We consider that it would be worth including development of the
ROWIP and further
further county-specific local evidence. For
example, the Wellbeing Assessment for NPT opportunities to raise
includes robust data collated by a number of the profile of the
ROWIP during
partners. It may be worth exploring this as
delivery will be
well as any other evidence at a county and
sought.
population level available to further
strengthen the assessment. This could have
additional benefits given the potential for
connections with the local Well Being Plan
and Area Statement Objectives and raise the
profile of the ROWIP as a delivery
mechanism for healthy and active (wellbeing)
benefits.

That there be no change
to the ROWIP.

6.1.1

You mention undiscovered places. Is it not
vital to have information in place at where
well used main trails or highways are
connected to paths that lead to as it is at this
time little used networks of paths.

Noted. It’s felt that
this is already
addressed within
Objective 5, 7.0.8, in
terms of provision of
information and sitebased signage.

That there be no change
to the ROWIP

Name

Organisation Section Paragraph

Mr
Martin
Locock

6.2

6.2.1

Representation

Officer Response

The reinstatement of the ROWs closed by
the Welsh Government in Gwaun Cae
Gurwen, Tairgwaith and Lower Brynaman to
facilitate opencast coal extraction, which are
due to be reopened during the lifetime of the
new Plan and will require extensive new
signage, gates/stiles and perhaps surfaces.

Noted. Necessary
PROW as part of
restoration plans will
be built into the
Delivery Plan at the
appropriate time.

Officer
Recommendation

That there be no change
to the ROWIP

We consider that ROWIP would have been
strengthened if NPT had been able to involve
their LAF in the process. Our understanding
is that NPT did not have a LAF while
developing the ROWIP as set out in the WG
ROWIP guidance which states clearly the
role of the LAF in reviewing the ROWIP.

Page 29

David
Bleines

People and
Places
Officer, South
West Wales
Natural
Resources
Wales

6

6.0.0

Noted. Existing LAF
members were
We understand that there is an intention to
included in the
reform the LAF and that the process towards
consultation process That there be no change
recruitment has already started. We note that
and we would
to the ROWIP
you refer to the role of LAFs in the delivery of
welcome input on the
the ROWIP and annual review of the
Delivery Plans with
Delivery Plans.
the reformed LAF.
This is especially timely given the local
opportunities presented by the Wellbeing of
Future Generations act and the Environment
Act through PSB groups and the Wellbeing
Plan as well as the emerging Area
Statements.

David
Bleines

People and
Places
Officer, South
West Wales
Natural

7

7

The countryside code information also has
relevance to your actions identified in section
7. Vision and Objectives under Objective 5.
Agreed.
We agree that there are opportunities to link
on-site provision (signage etc) to information

That the following
amendments be
incorporated into the
ROWIP

Name

Organisation Section Paragraph
Resources
Wales

Representation

Officer Response

online that supports the wider use of sites for
various types of outdoor recreation, to
promote responsible use and highlight what
behaviours are expected of users. This
includes shared trail use and dog walking
codes as an example.

Officer
Recommendation
7.0.8
Provisions of information
– to include the
promotion of the
Countryside Code,
improvements to online
material and further
exploration of digital
technology

Page 30

The statement of action is a clear and
statutory element of the ROWIP. Our view
of the draft plan is that the ROWIP would be
stronger if the statement of action stood out
more clearly.

David
Bleines

People and
Places
Officer, South
West Wales
Natural
Resources
Wales

7

7.0.0

The following are some format changes
which whilst they may seem minor, will
support the points in WG guidance to
produce a well-structured and easy to follow
ROWIP. For clarity, we think the
terminology provided in the guidance should
be used.

That the following
amendments be
incorporated into the
ROWIP
Agreed.
Replace the following title
…. 7. Vision and
Objectives to
7. Statement of Action

We suggest that the current title in section 7
of the draft ‘Vision and Objectives’ be
renamed ‘Statement of Action’, in
accordance with the Welsh Government
guidance.
David
Bleines

People and
Places
Officer, South
West Wales

7

7.0.3

We also suggest that the ‘Vision’ in this
section, as well as paragraph 7.03 be moved
Agreed.
to the very beginning of the ROWIP as an
introduction in order to set the tone for the

That the following
amendments be
incorporated into the

Name

Organisation Section Paragraph
Natural
Resources
Wales

Representation

Officer Response

whole plan.

Officer
Recommendation
ROWIP.
1.0.5 The Council's
vision to be delivered
through the ROWIP:
"That countryside access
provision in Neath Port
Talbot provides the best
opportunity possible for
residents and visitors to
enjoy the benefits that it
provides."

Page 31

1.0.6 In working towards
this vision, the Council
will adopt the principles of
'Sustainable Management
of Natural Resources
(Footnote: '
https://cdn.naturalresourc
es.wales/ media/678317/
introducing-smnr-bookletenglish.pdf), whilst also
taking each opportunity to
contribute towards the
well-being goals and
objectives set for Neath
Port Talbot.
Mr
Jay
Brightwater

7

7.0.4

Maintaining existing footpaths/bridleways.
There is a desperate need for maintaining
existing footpaths and bridleways. Just in my
village of Tonmwar there are so many that
have become blocked due to lack of

Noted – landowners
are responsible for
drainage and we
advise them of the
problems as they

That there be no change
to the ROWIP

Name

Organisation Section Paragraph

Representation
maintenance such as drainage to prevent
landslips and flooding. I reported bridleways
blocked by flooding caused by ditches not
being maintained November 2017 and 2
months later this flooding created huge land
slides which now, nearly 2 years later is
STILL totally blocked!

Page 32

Mr
Jay
Brightwater

Mr
Jay
Brightwater

7

7

Officer Response

Officer
Recommendation

arise. Where there is
a direct impact on the
PROW, we would
actively work with the
landowner to resolve
this. We are aware
of the issue flagged,
and work is in
progress for this.

7.0.4

Ensure coordination between different
authorities happens swiftly and effectively. I
know that when blocked paths are reported
parish, local council and NRW all try and
pass the buck, so nothing happens reflecting
very badly on NPT as it is within your area.

Noted. We agree
that effective
coordination is
important and this
would be covered
within Enforcement
and Negotiation of
7.0.4.

7.0.5

Tap into the enthusiasm that already exists
from local ramblers, MTB riders, public,
horse riders, dog walkers and clubs to work
WITH the council to build cooperation and
trust which is at an all time low! One example
would be the MTB riders who wrote to NRW
in February to ask for engagement to protect
existing trails, build by locals over the past
20 years on the hill known as The Mast at
Pontrhydyfen. There was NO reply. NRW
then started working in September to
prepare for the timber harvest which could
ruin the trails for locals and tourists. There
was an outcry! Petitions got signed which got
the AM to take notice and contact NRW who
then replied to the AM!!! There is no excuse

Noted. The example
provided is a
landowner issue,
which we raise with
landowners where
That there be no change
appropriate. Should
to the ROWIP
such issues be on
PROW we would be
able to take a greater
role in addressing
issues.

That there be no change
to the ROWIP

Name

Organisation Section Paragraph

Representation

Officer Response

Officer
Recommendation

for this kind of damage to local resources
and such appalling lack of communication
with locals.

Mr
Jay
Brightwater

7

Page 33

Mr
Jay
Brightwater

David
Bleines

7

People and
Places
Officer, South
West Wales
Natural

7

7.0.5

Clearly a lot has been spent on signs for
walking and cycling routes in the Afan, but
there is still more investment needed as I
frequently come across visitors who have
lost their way. Digital apps may also be
useful here.

Agreed. This is
something we look to
continually improve
on, for example,
That there be no change
expanding on the
to the ROWIP
existing online
Walking Map,
however it’s felt that
this is already
addressed by 7.0.8.

7.0.7

Afan Forest is one of the largest urban
forests in Europe, but still there is huge
neglect by NPT in connecting villages and
communities via footpaths, forcing children,
adults, dog walkers, and cyclists into the
road. Two examples are the road from
Pontrhydyfen to Tonmawr and the very
dangerous road from Pontrhydyfen up the
steep hill to Cimla!!! I have recently found out
that there may be a way round this from the
Richard Burton Way up past the Horse
Riding School, coming out at the junction at
the top of the hill to Cimla. Please don't wait
for a fatality for NPT to take action on this!

Noted. Necessary
PROW as part of
restoration plans will
be built into the
Delivery Plan at the
appropriate time.

That there be no change
to the ROWIP

7.0.7

NRW is currently working on a pilot project
using NRW sites to consider alternative
visual information formats to enable disabled
users to decide whether a route or site is
suitable for them and their equipment. There

Noted. We welcome
the opportunity for
further partnership
working.

That there be no change
to the ROWIP.

Name

Organisation Section Paragraph
Resources
Wales

Mr
Norman
Burns

Representation

Officer Response

Officer
Recommendation

may be opportunities for future joint working
on inclusive access on routes and sites on
NRW managed land in Neath Port Talbot
and NRW would welcome future discussions
on this aspect.

7

7.0.7

This refers to 'working with the Local Access
Forum...'. Then 9.2.3 (p. 37). states 'The
Local Access Forum will also play a role in
delivery of the Plan.' My information is that
the Local Access Forum has not met for
some two years. These entries should be
deleted, or - preferably - steps should be
taken to re-activate the Access Forum.

Noted. The Local
Access Forum is
being reformed

That there be no change
to the ROWIP

Page 34

That the following
amendments be
incorporated into the
ROWIP

Mr
Jay
Brightwater

7

7.0.8

Agreed. This
Existing routes on OS maps are often
process does exist,
blocked. Again riders and walkers need to be
however it would be
able to report these AND for NPT to take
helpful to outline this
action on EXISTING routes.
within the ROWIP.

Appendix A to be updated
to: Legal and Reporting
Processes
The following text to be
included as Appendix A,
Section C:
To report an issue
regarding a PROW,
please contact the
Countryside and
Wildlife Team on
countryside@npt.gov.u
k or 01639 686868.

Name

Mr
Jay
Brightwater

Organisation Section Paragraph

7

7.0.8

Page 35

Representation

Officer Response

Using existing digital, free, Apps which the
public can have on our phones to report
blocked access to paths with GPS
coordinates and photo options built in, such
as FixMyStreet. https://www.fixmystreet.com/
OR if you need it to be specific for NPT then
simply duplicate existing apps already
created by other councils such as 'My
Council / Report it' digital app used by
Gloucester City Council local.gov.uk/mycouncil-report-it-digital-app No need for
thousands to be spent on new apps, they
already exist! If for any reason they are not
suitable for NPT (I can't imagine why) then it
would be important to create one AND share
it with every member of the community.

Noted. The Council
is continually looking
at ways to improve
reporting
mechanisms and we
will explore this
further.

Officer
Recommendation

That there be no change
to the ROWIP

That the following
amendments be
incorporated into the
ROWIP

Mrs
Elaine
Jones

7

Objective
5

One of the factors reducing use of the ROW
network is fear of walking alone. Making
advice for safe lone walking public on the
NPT website, maybe sessions for groups
who may feel more vulnerable ( older
women) and a safety app or leaflet.

Mr
Stephen

8

8.0.1

I note no mention of partnering with
volunteers or organisations to further policy

Agreed. This could
be addressed further
within the Delivery
Plan. Expand on the
actions within
Objective 4 to reflect
such activities.

Noted, however it’s
That the following
felt that this would be amendments be

7.0.7
Access for All - ensuring
that maintenance /
improvement works and
promotional activities
maximise the
opportunities for all users
to access the
countryside.

Name

Organisation Section Paragraph

Todd

Representation
aims.
Therefore suggest 2 additional policies to
encourage more volunteer input and time
which should help expand/maintain the
network, saving the council resource/money

Officer Response
better addressed as
an action within the
objectives.

Officer
Recommendation
incorporated into the
ROWIP
7.0.4 Actions will deliver
against the following
themes:
- Involvement –
facilitate and encourage
public involvement in
activities that support
management of PROW.

Page 36

Mr
Stephen
Todd

Mr
Stephen
Todd

8

8.0.1

Noted, however there
are insufficient
resources to
Policy 11 – that the council aims to use KPI’s undertake
That there be no change
surveys. We
of increased area and KM lengths yearly to
to the ROWIP.
currently rely on
show that the network is expanding. To
feedback from users
identify issues and remedy as necessary.
to address issues,
which is proving to be
an effective solution.
Policy 12 – That the Council seeks to
increase volunteer participation and
collaboration to further the increase and
maintenance of the PROW network.

8

8.0.1
Collaborating with all parties to encourage
work parties, provide tool and training, work
in partnership with volunteers, Ramblers,
schools etc.

That the following
amendments be
incorporated into the
ROWIP

Noted, however it’s
felt that this would be
better addressed as
7.0.4 Actions will deliver
an action within the
against the following
objectives.
themes:
- Involvement –

Name

Organisation Section Paragraph

Representation

Officer Response

Officer
Recommendation
facilitate and encourage
public involvement in
activities that support
management of PROW.
That the following
amendments be
incorporated into the
ROWIP

Page 37

David
Bleines

People and
Places
Officer, South
West Wales
Natural
Resources
Wales

David
Bleines

People and
Places
Officer, South
West Wales
Natural
Resources

8

8

8.0.1

In carrying out Public Rights of Way
maintenance and development the authority
will be aware of the need to avoid
compromising the key features of a protected
site. Substrates for Rights of Way plus
materials used for structures such as bridges
and boardwalks should also be chosen with
regard to the sensitivity of the area.
Construction methods also need to be
sympathetic to the protected species and
habitats present. However, we also
recognise the value that the ROWIP can
bring in developing and promoting routes
that can direct people away from sensitive
areas.

8.0.1

It should be noted that there can be
implications in management of Rights of Way
on the operation and maintenance of flood
Agreed. New policy
risk assets that we may undertake. This
to be added.
needs to be considered by the authority, for
example, when you come to develop site

Policy 7:
Improvement and
maintenance works will
Agreed. This is part
be carried out in
covered by Policy 7, accordance with all
however this could
legislative requirements
be strengthened to
in respect to biodiversity,
provide further clarity. including the biodiversity
and
resilience of ecosystems
statutory duty. All works
will ensure biodiversity is
maintained and
enhanced, and where
appropriate may include
works for the benefit of
biodiversity
That the following
amendments be
incorporated into the
ROWIP

Name

Organisation Section Paragraph
Wales

Representation

Officer Response

specific projects. In developing projects and
considering management and promotion of
Rights of Way near main rivers you should
be aware of the potential impact Rights of
Way can have on the management of flood
risk assets such as embankments or berm
areas and ensure that appropriate measures
are taken to ensure flood risk assets are not
compromised as a result. Further
information about this and the areas where
any measures may need a flood risk activity
permit (FRAP) are available on our website.
We would encourage you to get in touch with
us if you have any queries relating to this.

Policy 11
When carrying out
improvement works,
path/area maintenance
or when designing or
carrying out works on
new Public Rights of
Way – flood risk
assessments should be
considered and the
necessary permit or
licences obtained.

Page 38

With subsequent
renumbering of
policies.

We would also make you aware that should
there be any proposals to create new rights
of way over or along existing flood risk
assets, the local authority should be aware
that although we may operate or maintain
these assets, we do not own the asset or the
land on which they are located and are not in
a position to grant permission for use of the
land. The permission of the landowner will
have to be sought as part of any process to
create the Right of Way.

Mrs
Elaine
Jones

8

Policy 1

Working in partnership encourage route
adoption by interested groups and
organisations

Officer
Recommendation

Noted, however it’s
felt that this would be
better addressed as
an action within the
objectives.

That the following
amendments be
incorporated into the
ROWIP
7.0.4 Actions will deliver
against the following

Name

Organisation Section Paragraph

Representation

Officer Response

Officer
Recommendation
themes:
- Involvement –
facilitate and encourage
public involvement in
activities that support
management of PROW.
That the following
amendments be
incorporated into the
ROWIP

Page 39

Mr
Garry
Marvelley

Mrs
Elaine
Jones

8

8

Policy 1

Policy 4

Perhaps you can expand a little on what is
meant by historical nature of the footpath.

Agreed.

All new housing developments to have a
ROW linking into the NPT network.

Noted. This is
something we
already seek to
achieve where
feasible. For clarity,

Policy 1
Standards of
maintenance will be
based on an assessment
of the historic nature and
use of the path, dating
back to when the path
came into being, or any
subsequent
improvement works.
There will be a
presumption to retain
surfaces in a permeable /
natural state unless of
priority as an easy access
route.
That the following
amendments be
incorporated into the
ROWIP

Name

Organisation Section Paragraph

Representation

Officer Response
amend the policy.

Officer
Recommendation
Policy 4
Improvements to Public
Rights of Way will be
prioritised on a number of
criteria, to
include current and
potential levels of public
use, potential to improve
accessibility, accessibility
from public transport
routes and areas of new
development.

Page 40
David
Bleines

People and
Places
Officer, South
West Wales
Natural
Resources
Wales

The ROWIP does not seem to have taken
account of the Equality Act which is a
change of legislation since the last ROWIP
was published. The Equality Act 2010
requires us to address accessibility in terms
of the wider protected characteristics
identified in the Act but still retains the
disabled access elements identified by the
Disability Discrimination Act (DDA) 2005.
8

Policy 5

Although the Equality
Act is not directly
referenced in the
Plan, it is reflected in
the Integrated Impact
Assessment
undertaken for the
Plan and is adhered
to in the delivery of
the Plan and all
This should be considered and incorporated
Rights of Way
before finalising the plan. Colleagues in the
delivery. To reflect
Council that have developed your Strategic
the importance of the
Equality Plan may be able to advise how
Equality Act in
best to do this.
delivery of the
ROWIP, an
Regarding access considerations
amendment to Policy
specifically, we have developed the guidance 5 is recommended.
‘By All Reasonable Means’ which provides a

That the following
amendments be
incorporated into Policy
5.
Policy 5
There will be a
presumption for least
restrictive, and most
accessible, option in
the maintenance,
improvement and
promotion of the Public
Rights of Way
Network. This will
include minimal use of
structures in response to
applications for new

Name

Organisation Section Paragraph

Representation
useful protocol when considering least
restrictive access. This guidance has
recently been reviewed and updated by
NRW to include the wider protected
characteristics of the Equality Act 2010 and
is on our Improving Access for All web
pages:

Officer Response

Officer
Recommendation
furniture on Public Rights
of Way. Stiles will no
longer be approved or
installed by the Council
unless a legitimate
reason can be
demonstrated.

https://naturalresources.wales/daysout/recreation-and-access-policy-advice-andguidance/managing-access/improvingaccess-for-all/?lang=en

Page 41

Whilst ensuring that the ROWIP meets
statutory requirements, addressing this issue
will give you further opportunity to
demonstrate a joined-up approach in delivery
of access provision with local Wellbeing
Objectives.

Mrs
Elaine
Jones

8

Policy 7

Biodiversity protection and promotion should
feature higher up the policy priorities.

The policies are of
equal importance and
aren’t listed in order
of importance. Whilst
we agree that
That there be no change
biodiversity
to the ROWIP.
protection is a key
element of the Plan,
we feel that there is
no need to re-order
the policies.

Mr
Norman
Burns

8

Policy 10

While I note with approval the stated
presumption, it is my understanding that
there is also a presumption that any disused

Noted, however such
That there be no change
policies are better
to the ROWIP
placed within land

Name

Organisation Section Paragraph

Representation

Officer Response

railway track will be used for recreational
purposes. The value of this type of access to
a range of users is well demonstrated in the
Afan and the Swansea valley. Assuming my
understanding is correct, I suggest its
inclusion as a Policy statement - in keeping
with the Local Development Plan (20112026) 2.0.17 (p. 10).

use plans such as
the Local
Development Plan.
The comment will be
shared with the Local
Development Plan
colleagues.

Officer
Recommendation

Page 42

Should my assumption be incorrect,
however, then I would call for a presumption
in favour of recreational use of disused
railway tracks to be included in the
Improvement Plan as a proposed course of
action.

Mr
CT
Griffiths

Mr
CT
Griffiths

Noted. This is
explained to the
applicant during initial
meetings with the
Rights of Way
Officer. However, we
That there be no change
recognise that this
to the ROWIP
should be made clear
therefore have built
this fact into an
information pack to
accompany the claim
forms.

Appendix
A:

Evidence forms should be endorsed with the
following information:Should the claim not be progressed within
twelve months of the date of the application
the applicant may submit a request to Welsh
Ministers to direct the Order Making
Authority to reach a decision on an
application.

Appendix
A:

It is unfortunate that nowhere in the
document is any mention made of a
mechanism to create PROW's by agreement Agreed.
as contained in The Highways Act 1980
Sections 25 and 26.

That the following
additional paragraph be
incorporated into the
ROWIP

Name

Organisation Section Paragraph

Representation

Officer Response

I believe this to be an essential addition to
enable the OMA to create improved links to
existing PROW's where other methods are
impractical as a means of improving the
network, and I therefore request inclusion.
Creating permissive paths by agreement with
landowners receives no mention which is
regrettable as, in certain circumstances,
such agreements can again provide
worthwhile links to the network where other
creation methods are impractical.

Page 43
Mr
CT
Griffiths

Appendix
A:

Finally, the fact that a Local Access Forum
involvement had no input onto the making of
this draft document because one did not
exist, ensures its contents lacks legitimacy,
simply because the essential views from
landowners and users of the network should
have been central in its production. The
reason given that landowners could not be
found is unfortunate; but from information
received from other OMA's, and advice
received from knowledgeable sources,
reveal that such absence would not prevent
a LAF from being created.
This information has been forwarded to a
NPT countryside team member for
consideration.
Although it may well be too late for any
convened LAF to be involved in this ROWIP,
I would urge the authority to move to create
a LAF at an early date so that decisions
taken in the future could at least be seen to
represent a fair spread of interests.

Officer
Recommendation
4.1.7 There are
legislative mechanisms
to register new PROW
based on 20 year use,
and legal provisions to
alter the current
network and to create
permissive paths by
agreement. This could
thereby alter the
network to better reflect
its current use.

Noted. The LAF is to
reform without a
balance of landowner
/ user if necessary,
and this principle will
be adopted going
forward. Should
suitable members
express an interest at
any point in the
future, we will be able Not applicable.
to appoint at this
stage.
We recognise the
role of the LAF in
inputting to the
development of the
Plan, and all existing
members were
consulted.

Name

Organisation Section Paragraph

Mr
CT
Griffiths

Appendix
B:

Representation

Evidence forms should be endorsed with the
following information:Should the claim not be progressed within
twelve months of the date of the application
the applicant may submit a request to Welsh
Ministers to direct the Order Making
Authority to reach a decision on an
application.

Page 44

CA5.
It is suggested that the text of this section is
altered;

Mrs
Jane
Hennell

Area Planner
Canal and
River Trust

Appendix
B:

In terms of public access, the Council
recognises the value of the canal network to
all, and in particular the importance of some
sections as an accessible route for those
with mobility problems and will aim to:
(i)work with stakeholders to improve and
maintain the canal towpaths to a high
standard which will enable their use by all
members of the community.
(ii) Maintain public access to the Swansea
Canal Nature Reserve between
Ynysmeudwy and Ystalyfera.

Officer Response

Officer
Recommendation

Noted. This is
explained to the
applicant during initial
meetings with the
Rights of Way
Officer. However, we
That there be no change
recognise that this
to the ROWIP
should be made clear
therefore have built
this fact into an
information pack to
accompany the claim
forms.
The text referred to is
an extract from the
first ROWIP,
therefore there is no
scope for
amendment. Alternat
ively, the ‘evaluation’
section could be
amended to reflect
the importance of the
non PROW sections
of the towpath.
The comment has
also drawn attention
to the fact that the
column headings
have been omitted,
which should be
rectified.

That the following
amendments be
incorporated into the
second column of the
evaluation table in
Appendix B.
CA5: Access to the Canal
network in Neath Port
Talbot
Access provision to the
canal network has been
maintained with surface
improvement works
carried out on significant
sections, including non
PROW, either as part of
Active Travel, Wales
Coast Path or ROWIP

Name

Organisation Section Paragraph

Representation
(iii) Continue to promote public access to the
remainder of the canal network under ongoing access agreements
It is suggested that this change is necessary
to make it clear that other stakeholders may
wish to be work in partnership to promote
access, improve and maintain the towpaths
too, and that in order to ensure the towpath
network is not fragmented further the council
seek to ensure that all sections should, with
the agreement of the landowners, be
improved and maintained, not just those
which are public footpaths.

Officer Response

Officer
Recommendation
funded schemes. The
canal towpaths remain in
good condition and are
well used by the public.
Furthermore, for clarity,
it’s recommended that
Evaluation Table
(Appendix B) include
the column headings:
Policy / Action of
ROWIP 2008-18 (column
1) and Evaluation of
Delivery (column 2).

Page 45

Table
4.1.2

This table is hardly relevant as path surveys
are no longer undertaken. These figures
indicate past performance only and the
present performance can only be
assumed. With reductions in budgets and
staff, performance figures are likely to be
somewhat worse.

Noted, however as
this is the only data
that is available to us, That there be no change
it’s felt there is some to the ROWIP.
value in providing this
information.

Mr
Norman
Burns

Table
6.2.1

As an older person myself I applaud the
Targeted Action to encourage the listed 'low
use groups' (it was participating in very short
walks with the Ramblers following a 2008
heart attack that encouraged me back on to
the path to where I can now lead the
occasional 4-6 mile walk).

Noted. The statement
That there be no change
of support is
to the ROWIP
welcomed.

Mr
CT
Griffiths

Table
B.0.1

It is concerning that only two of sixteen
Noted. Cases can be
That there be no change
Definitive Map Modification Orders appear to complex and are time
to the ROWIP
have been completed since 2015 with
consuming. The

Mr
CT
Griffiths

Name

Mr
CT
Griffiths

Organisation Section Paragraph

Table
B.0.1

Representation

Officer Response

fourteen outstanding. Further resources are
required to tackle this backlog.

backlog is being
significantly reduced
with a number of
reports nearing
completion

M4(iii) Further communication with
Community Councils is essential to
encourage more to partake of the available
grant.

Page 46
Mr
CT
Griffiths

Mr
CT
Griffiths

Table
B.0.1

Table
B.0.1

States a presumption in favour of kissing
gates rather than stiles. However, page 47
E2 (ii) states the Council will assist in the
removal of obstructions by providing stiles or
gates. Is there an inconsistency here?

E1(b)(c)(d):
Remove “well”, as any public path that is

Noted. The
availability of the
grant has been
communicated to all
Community / Town
Councils
Noted. The text
referred to is an
extract from the first
ROWIP, therefore
there is no scope for
amendment. Current
procedures are to not
provide stiles to
landowners, which is
reflected in the
revised ROWIP.

Officer
Recommendation

Not applicable.

That the following
amendments be
incorporated into the
ROWIP.

The Evaluation Table
(Appendix B) to include
the column headings:

Policy / Action of
The comment has
ROWIP 2008-18 (column
drawn attention to the 1) and Evaluation of
fact that the column
Delivery (column 2).
headings have been
omitted, which should
be rectified.

Noted, however the
intention of the
priority list is to have

That there be no change
to the ROWIP

Name

Organisation Section Paragraph

Representation

Officer Response

Officer
Recommendation

obstructed by unauthorised structures, or is a an order where
matter of public safety, is unlawful or
issues which would
undesirable.
provide greatest
benefit are
addressed first. It is
not to say that other
issues will not be
addressed.

Mr
CT
Griffiths

Page 47

Mr
Norman
Burns

Table
B.0.1

A significant minority (38%) cited lack of
waymarking as a problem. The Highways
Act 1968 s27 places a duty on OMA's to
waymark PROWs. Where they leave
metalled highways and further waymarking
along routes is clearly desirable. The 1%
target is unambitious and requires a
significant increase.

Noted. The
reference to the 1%
target was in the
That there be no change
previous ROWIP and
to the ROWIP
we have not set a
target for the revised
ROWIP.

Table
B.0.1

Having a family member who uses a
wheelchair I applaud the achievements in
already 'offering easy access opportunities
for less able users', with Policy 5 (p. 34) set
to expand that provision.

Noted. The statement
That there be no change
of support is
to the ROWIP
welcomed.

Mr
Garry
Marvelley

Table
B.0.1

I was a little concerned with the response in
IP1. It is going to be very difficult to ensure
that the network of footpaths are kept fit for
purpose and safe if this is the case.

Noted, we share
these concerns.
Following the loss of
the ROWIP grant, the That there be no change
to the ROWIP
Council has put
appropriate funding
in place to address
the loss of funding.

Mr
CT
Griffiths

Table
C.0.1

I disagree with the points given to a number
of statements as follows:Item 6 (2 points): Surely a section of path

The Priority Criteria
has been in place for
a number of years,

That there be no change
to the ROWIP

Name

Organisation Section Paragraph

Page 48

Representation

Officer Response

which fills a gap in the network deserves a
higher profile;
Item 7 (4 points): Given the substantial delay
in processing claims, evidence from elderly
persons may be vital to a successful
outcome;
Items (a) Surely this deserves higher profile,
particularly where the shorter route takes
less able and elderly persons as well as
younger persons with children off potentially
busy highways or footways adjacent to
heavy traffic.

following its
development in
conjunction with the
legal team. It is an
established part of
our legislative
process and any
proposed
amendment is
outside the scope of
this ROWIP
review. However, the
comment is noted
and the matter will be
raised with the Legal
Section with a view to
reviewing in
conjunction with the
LAF.

Officer
Recommendation

APPENDIX 2
Rights of Way Improvement Plan (2020-2030) Tracked
Changes – February 2020.

Page 49

Page 50

Rights of Way Improvement
Plan (2020-2030)
Tracked Changes - February 2020

Page 51

www.npt.gov.uk

Page 52

Foreword

3

PART 1 - Introduction and Background
1 Introduction
1.1

4

Structure and Content

4

2 Policy and Legislative Context

6

3 Access to the Countryside

11

3.1

Description of Neath Port Talbot

11

3.2

Means of Access to the Countryside

12

PART 2 - Assessment of Access Provision and Use
4 Assessment of Access Provision in Neath Port Talbot

14

4.1

Public Rights of Way (PROW)

14

4.2

Cycle Routes and Adopted Highway

16

4.3

Canal Network

17

4.4

Long Distance Trails

18

4.5

Waterfall Walks

20

4.6

Public Access under CROW Act 2000 and Common Land

21

4.7

Coastal Access

21

4.8

Permissive Access

21

4.9

Open Space

22

4.10 Neath Port Talbot Public Consultation (2017)

23

4.11 Overview

23

5 Assessment of Use in Neath Port Talbot

24

5.1

National Survey for Wales (2016-2017)

24

5.2

Neath Port Talbot Public Consultation (2017)

25

6 Evaluation

26

6.1

Benefits of Public Rights of Way

27

6.2

Key Issues in Neath Port Talbot

28

Page 53

Neath Port Talbot Council - Rights of Way Improvement Plan (2020-2030)-Tracked Changes - February 2020

Contents

Contents

Neath Port Talbot Council - Rights of Way Improvement Plan (2020-2030)-Tracked Changes - February 2020

PART 3 - Statement of Action
7 Statement of Action

30

8 Policies

33

9 Implementation and Monitoring

36

9.1

Annual Delivery Plans

36

9.2

Delivery Mechanism and Funding

36

9.3

Monitoring and Evaluation

36

Appendices
A Legal and Reporting Processes

37

B ROWIP (2008-2018) - Evaluation of Delivery

39

C Priority Criteria for Claimed PROW and Other Orders

49

Page 54

Foreword
I am pleased to introduce the Council’s revised new Rights of Way Improvement Plan,
which has been produced following an extensive consultation and assessment process.
Neath Port Talbot is an attractive and diverse county, with distinct valley communities
benefiting from a dramatic upland landscape, with a network of moorland and forest paths,
linking through to our coastal communities, with a range of parks, lowland woodlands and
coastal walks. The landscape provides ample opportunity for recreation and tourism,
resulting in benefits to health and well-being, the local economy and a strong sense of
community pride.
We recognise the importance of Public Rights of Way (PROW) and wider countryside
access for our residents and visitors. The Rights of Way Improvement Plan provides a
strategic framework for the management of our PROW, leading to notable achievements
and improvements.
The revised new Rights of Way Improvement Plan for Neath Port Talbot outlines the
Council’s vision and commitments to protecting, maintaining and improving this resource
into the future. Whilst the quality and accessibility of the physical resource remains at the
core of the revised Plan, we also believe passionately that our countryside should serve
the needs of all people for recreation, health and well-being, therefore will also be focusing
our efforts on maximising the number and range of people who are able to enjoy the
benefits of our natural environment.
I would urge you to consider this document and take the opportunity to respond to the
consultation.

Councillor Annette Wingrave

Neath Port Talbot Council - Rights of Way Improvement Plan (2020-2030)-Tracked Changes - February 2020

Foreword

3

Cabinet Member for Regeneration and Sustainable Development

Page 55

1 . Introduction

Neath Port Talbot Council - Rights of Way Improvement Plan (2020-2030)-Tracked Changes - February 2020

1 Introduction
1.0.1 Under Section 60 of the Countryside and Rights of Way (CROW) Act 2000, the
Council has a statutory duty to prepare a 'Rights of Way Improvement Plan' (ROWIP).
The ROWIP for Neath Port Talbot was initially prepared and published for the period
2008-2018.
1.0.2
Under Section 60(3) and (4), the Council is required to undertake a new
assessment, a review of this Plan and assess whether amendments are required to the
first Plan. Specifically, the assessment is required to include the following:
An assessment of current provision, i.e. current access provision and opportunities
that Public Rights of Way (PROW) and other access provision provides;
An assessment of use, i.e. how needs are being met, barriers to use and incentives
for use; and
An evaluation of existing, and priorities for a new, ROWIP.
1.0.3 In 2017, and in accordance with legislation, the Council undertook an assessment
of current provision including the opportunities that PROW and other access provision
provides. In addition, a consultation exercise was undertaken to gather views from the
public and stakeholders on the quality and condition of the PROW network and the wider
countryside, their use of these routes and the measures that could be taken to encourage
greater use of the countryside.
1.0.4 Following this assessment and public consultation, the decision was taken by the
Council to prepare a new ROWIP for Neath Port Talbot. This new Plan, covering the period
2019-2029 2020-2030, sets out the means by which the Council intends to improve and
promote access to the countryside across the County Borough over the next decade.
1.0.5 The Council's vision to be delivered through the ROWIP: "That countryside access
provision in Neath Port Talbot provides the best opportunity possible for residents and
visitors to enjoy the benefits that it provides."
1.0.6 In working towards this vision, the Council will adopt the principles of 'Sustainable
(1)
Management of Natural Resources' , whilst also taking each opportunity to contribute
towards the well-being goals and objectives set for Neath Port Talbot.
1.1 Structure and Content
1.1.1

4

The Rights of Way Improvement Plan is structured into the following three parts:

PART 1: Introduction and Background - provides a summary of the key drivers in
the national, regional and local context, along with a description of the County Borough
and the opportunities for public access to the countryside.

1

Page 56

https://cdn.naturalresources.wales/media/678317/introducing-smnr-booklet-english.pdf

PART 2: Assessment of Access Provision and Use - outlines the outcome of the
assessment in regard to access provision and use of this resource across Neath Port
Talbot and identifies the key issues to be addressed moving forward.
PART 3: Statement of Action - outlines the vision, objectives and policies of the
Improvement Plan, along with the means by which the Plan will be delivered and
monitored.

Neath Port Talbot Council - Rights of Way Improvement Plan (2020-2030)-Tracked Changes - February 2020

1 . Introduction

5

Page 57

2 . Policy and Legislative Context

Neath Port Talbot Council - Rights of Way Improvement Plan (2020-2030)-Tracked Changes - February 2020

2 Policy and Legislative Context
2.0.1 The preparation of the ROWIP falls within the scope of Article 2(a) of the Strategic
Environmental Assessment (SEA) Directive. The Directive states that its objective is “to
provide for a high level of protection of the environment and to contribute to the integration
of environmental considerations into the preparation and adoption of plans and programmes
with a view to promoting sustainable development”. The Directive recognises, however,
that an SEA need only be undertaken if a plan is likely to lead to significant environmental
effects. After screening the ROWIP using the information contained in “A Practical Guide
to the Strategic Environmental Assessment Directive” it is the Council’s judgement that
the actions and policies contained within the ROWIP are not likely to lead to significant
environmental effects and that a SEA is not required.
2.0.2 There are a number of national, regional and local plans / strategies which recognise
the importance of access to the countryside, and the benefits it can provide for public
health and well-being.
2.0.3 The ROWIP has to have regard to these national and local policies and initiatives,
and implementation of the plan will contribute to the achievement of Welsh Government
(WG) policy objectives. The most relevant plans and strategies are set out below.
Neath Port Talbot Public Services Board (PSB) Local Well-Being Plan (2018-2023)
2.0.4 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act, 2015 is striving to improve the
social, economic, environmental and cultural well-being of Wales. The Act puts in place
seven well-being goals, which public bodies must work towards achieving, and five
sustainable development principles to adopt.
2.0.5 The Well-being Plan sets out the Public Service Board’s (PSB) long term vision
for Neath Port Talbot, as required by the Well-being of Future Generations Act 2015. The
Plan lays out 4 key objectives to improving the well-being of people in Neath Port Talbot,
and identifies the priorities for action:
Support children in their early years, especially children at risk of adverse childhood
experiences;
Create safe, confident and resilient communities, focusing on vulnerable people;
Put more life into our later years – ageing well;
Promote well-being through work and in the workplace.

6

2.0.6 Furthermore, the following have been identified as objectives which cut across
the first four objectives:
Value our green infrastructure and the contribution it makes to our well-being;
Tackle digital exclusion.

Page 58

Neath Port Talbot Corporate Plan (2019-2022)
2.0.7

The Corporate Plan sets out the Council’s vision:

We want our county borough to be a place where everyone has an equal chance to
get on in life – a place where people want to live, learn and work and bring up their
family.
We want our beautiful natural environment, and our rich cultural and industrial heritage
to be appreciated and protected for many future generations to enjoy. We also want
to pursue new and existing opportunities for economic growth so we can sustain our
diverse communities for years to come.

2.0.8
Through the following well-being objectives, the Council will maximise its
contribution to the well-being goals:
To improve the well-being of children and young people;
To improve the well-being of all adults who live in the County Borough; and
To develop the local economy and environment so that the well-being of people can
be improved.
2.0.9 Both the Well-being Plan and Corporate Plan have a strong focus on improving
well-being, alongside valuing and protecting our local environment. Provision, and
promotion, of an accessible network of routes for a range of users will be integral element
of meeting the Council’s, and PSB’s, well-being priorities and goals.
South West Area Statement
2.0.10 Welsh Government’s Natural Resources Policy sets out the key challenges and
opportunities in Wales in relation to our natural environment. Natural Resources Wales
(NRW) is required to produce area statements that will specify priorities, risks and
opportunities to implement the priorities of the Natural Resources Policy. Wales has been
split into seven areas and Neath Port Talbot falls within the South West Wales area with
Pembrokeshire, Carmarthenshire and Swansea.

Neath Port Talbot Council - Rights of Way Improvement Plan (2020-2030)-Tracked Changes - February 2020

2 . Policy and Legislative Context

2.0.11 NRW are currently developing the Area Statement for the South West, however
have currently identified emerging themes which are likely to form the basis of the Area
Statement:
Supporting health outcomes;
Unsustainable rural land management;
Reversing the decline in biodiversity; and
Resilience to a changing climate.

Page 59

7

2 . Policy and Legislative Context

Neath Port Talbot Council - Rights of Way Improvement Plan (2020-2030)-Tracked Changes - February 2020

2.0.12 Implementation of the ROWIP will need to be mindful of the emerging Area
Statement, recognising the opportunity to deliver improvements to health and changing
climate (through reduced travel), whilst also ensuring that work practices do not negatively
impact on biodiversity or sustainable land management requirements.
Joint Transport Plan for South West Wales (2015-2020)
2.0.13 The Joint Transport Plan for South West Wales is the result of joint working
between the four Councils (Carmarthenshire, Neath Port Talbot, Swansea and
Pembrokeshire) in South West Wales. It replaces the individual local transport plans
previously adopted by the four councils. As well as acting as a bidding document for major
transport schemes it will shape transport policy in the region for the period 2015 -2020
and beyond.
2.0.14 The long term strategy and policies of the plan includes a focus on improving
walking and cycling links within, and between, key settlements.
Active Travel
2.0.15 The Active Travel (Wales) Act 2013 requires the Council to map and plan for
suitable active travel routes within settlements specified by the Welsh Government. The
Council is required to prepare, publish and keep under review the following two maps:
Existing Route Map (ERM) - primarily intended to inform the public of the existing
routes in the County Borough that the Council considers suitable for active travel and
which meet standards set out in the Welsh Government's Active Travel Design
Guidance.
Integrated Network Map (INM) - setting out the Council’s aspirations for the next 15
years, identifying either improvements that could be made to existing routes or where
new routes could be developed and added to the active travel network.
2.0.16 Whilst meeting the requirements of the Active Travel Act is outside the remit of
this Plan, there will clearly be opportunities to deliver against the INM alongside the Rights
of Way Improvement Plan. A collaborative approach will be taken to carrying out
improvements that maximise the benefits for leisure, health and well-being and active
travel.

8

Page 60

Picture 2.1 Swansea Canal

Destination Management Plan (2015-2020)

Neath Port Talbot Council - Rights of Way Improvement Plan (2020-2030)-Tracked Changes - February 2020

2 . Policy and Legislative Context

2.0.17 A Destination Management Plan (DMP) is a shared statement of intent to manage
a destination, outlining the roles of different stakeholders and identifying the actions that
they will take. The DMP recognises the important role that PROW play in enabling visits
to the local area, both via physical access but also in allowing us to showcase Neath Port
Talbot in a more picturesque and rural light, in contrast to the industrialised urban areas
of the County Borough.
Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan (2011-2026)
2.0.18
The Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan (LDP) guides the future
development of the area, providing a clear vision for the County Borough, setting out
where, when and how much new development can take place over the duration of the
plan (2011-2026). The aim is to provide developers and the public with certainty about the
planning framework for Neath Port Talbot.

Page 61

9

2 . Policy and Legislative Context

Neath Port Talbot Council - Rights of Way Improvement Plan (2020-2030)-Tracked Changes - February 2020

2.0.19 There are a number of objectives and policies that support and promote access
to the countryside, for health, recreation and for commuting, which would be supported
by delivery of the ROWIP. The most relevant of these are outlined below.
Objectives
OB 4: Maximise accessibility to a range of leisure, recreational, health, social and
community facilities in line with the role and function of settlements.
OB 21: Increase accessibility, promote active travel and encourage a shift to more
sustainable modes of transport for people and freight.
Policies
Policy SP2 Health: Healthier, more active and safer lifestyles will be encouraged
through the retention of a range of accessible leisure, recreational, health, retail,
social, cultural and community facilities throughout the County Borough.
Policy SP4 Infrastructure: Improving access to facilities and services including the
provision of walking and cycling routes.
Policy SP20 Transport Network: Supporting enhancements to the walking and cycling
network.

10

Page 62

3 Access to the Countryside
3.1 Description of Neath Port Talbot
3.1.1 Neath Port Talbot comprises a diverse natural environment which supports the
well-being of local people as well as attracting many visitors to the area. Rising from sea
level in the west to 600 metres at Craig Y Llyn, above Glynneath, Neath Port Talbot is
predominantly an upland area dissected by the valleys of the Afan, Neath, Dulais and
Tawe rivers which all flow to the sea at Swansea Bay.
3.1.2 These valleys are separated from each other by ridges of high forest or moorland
and a narrow coastal strip extends around Swansea Bay where the main centres of
population are found. The surrounding valleys are rural in aspect with scattered
communities, many of which still contain significant numbers of Welsh speakers.
3.1.3 There is a range of access provision in Neath Port Talbot, offering plenty of
opportunities for those wishing to visit the countryside. The Gnoll and Margam Country
Parks, along with Aberafan Seafront, offer a variety of leisure facilities that appeal to
families and walkers of all age ranges. Local Nature Reserves offer the opportunity to get
closer to nature and the Public Rights of Way network offers the opportunity to gain access
into areas such as the ‘Waterfall Country’ located at the foot of the Brecon Beacons National
Park.
Picture 3.1 'Overlooking Glyncorrwg' - Pencraig Isaf

Neath Port Talbot Council - Rights of Way Improvement Plan (2020-2030)-Tracked Changes - February 2020

3 . Access to the Countryside

11

Page 63

3 . Access to the Countryside

Neath Port Talbot Council - Rights of Way Improvement Plan (2020-2030)-Tracked Changes - February 2020

3.2 Means of Access to the Countryside
3.2.1 Throughout the County Borough there are extensive opportunities to gain public
(2)
access to the countryside, either through legally defined, or less formal means .
Public Rights of Way (PROW)
3.2.2 PROW are public highways which provide one of the most important means of
access to the countryside. They provide communities with opportunities to access the
countryside for purposes of leisure and also a sustainable transport option.
3.2.3 The duty to record PROW was first introduced by the National Parks and Access
to the Countryside Act 1949. This Act resulted in the creation of 'Definitive Maps' by each
highway authority, based on an assessment of their historic use and status. It was a long
and protracted process, accompanied with public scrutiny of the maps and associated
(3)
statements, following which Neath Port Talbot’s Definitive Map was published .
3.2.4 PROW benefit from a robust legislative framework which provides the user with
a clearly defined right of use and places a duty on the Council to ensure the right of passage
is maintained, open and available at all times. There is a legal process in place for the
extinguishment, diversion or creation of Public Rights of Way, or for rectifying anomalies
(4)
on the Definitive Map .
3.2.5 PROW carry a range of access rights, which are recorded on the Definitive Map.
They comprise:
Footpaths - a public highway over which the public has a right of way on foot only.
Bridleways - a highway over which the public may ride or lead a horse, walk or ride
on a pedal cycle.
Restricted Byways - the public has a right on foot, on horseback or leading a horse,
and a right in or on a vehicle other than mechanically propelled vehicles, thereby
giving a right for pedal cyclists and drivers of horse drawn vehicles.
Byway Open to All Traffic (BOAT) - these are highways over which the public can
exercise all the rights referred to above, but there is also a right to drive mechanically
propelled vehicles. The Council however, does not have a duty to provide a surface
which is capable of being used by all forms of motor vehicular traffic.
Cycleways
3.2.6 Cycleways are routes over which the public have the right to ride a pedal cycle,
with or without a right to walk or ride a horse.

12
2
3
4

The availability of the various forms of public access to the countryside in Neath Port Talbot is considered in
Chapter 4.
The Definitive Map comprises an OS based map showing the location of the paths and their status, together with
a written statement which provides evidence of width, etc.
Details on these processes are outlined in Appendix A.

Page 64

3.2.7 The Active Travel (Wales) Act 2013, has provided the legal framework for the
provision of active travel routes. With the emphasis on commuting and making purposeful
journeys, existing and proposed aspirational routes are identified on the Council's 'Existing
Route Map' (ERM) and 'Integrated Network Map' (INM) respectively.
3.2.8 This ROWIP mainly considers the rural cycleway network which provides a means
of access to the countryside. Some of the rural cycleways are aligned with PROW, but
many are part of the permissive network of paths described below.
Permissive Paths
3.2.9 These are paths over which the landowner has granted public rights of allowed
access. The rights may be on foot, horseback or on pedal cycle, but rarely do they include
a right to drive motor vehicles. The landowner may withdraw this right at any point in the
future.
Common Land
3.2.10 The Council has a duty to keep a register of common land under the Commons
Act 2006. All registered common land is open to public pedestrian access for air and
exercise. In addition, there is a public right to ride on horseback on urban common land
and on rural common land where a deed of access has been granted under Section 193
of the Law of Property Act 1925.
Open Access Land
3.2.11 The Countryside and Rights of Way (CROW) Act 2000 provided a public right of
access on foot to areas of mountain, moor, heath, and down, and common. which includes
all common land. The Act also provides landowners with the opportunity to dedicate their
land for public access, which has been done by Welsh Government Woodland Estate
Natural Resources Wales (NRW) for all of its freehold estate. The land is indicated on
maps prepared by NRW. Further information about how people can use land that NRW
manage is set out in Position Statements on their website, whilst maps can be found in
web-based locations such as the Lle portal and NRW website.

Neath Port Talbot Council - Rights of Way Improvement Plan (2020-2030)-Tracked Changes - February 2020

3 . Access to the Countryside

Permissive Areas of Access
3.2.12 These are areas of land where the landowner has provided public access to
areas of land, such as country or urban parks, nature reserves and parts of the coast.
Open Space
(5)

3.2.13 Open space refers to publicly accessible recreational space and includes
playing fields, sports pitches and courts, children's play areas, facilities for older children,
informal open space, greenspace, parks and allotments. Many of these will refer to access
opportunities identified above, either on a permanent or permissive basis.

5

Page 65

As defined by the Council's Local Development Plan (2011-2026).

13

4 . Assessment of Access Provision in Neath Port Talbot

Neath Port Talbot Council - Rights of Way Improvement Plan (2020-2030)-Tracked Changes - February 2020

4 Assessment of Access Provision in Neath Port Talbot
4.0.1 The assessment of current access provision across the County Borough has
confirmed that there are a broad range of opportunities to facilitate public access to the
countryside. Whilst the findings of the assessment is outlined in more detail below, Figure
4.1 overleaf illustrates these areas in broad terms.
4.1 Public Rights of Way (PROW)
4.1.1 The total recorded length of legally existing PROW across the County Borough
amounts to 777.3 kilometres (km). This is the PROW that legally exist and is not necessarily
an indication of the length of routes that are open / physically accessible.
4.1.2 The table below presents a breakdown of PROW by 'Definitive Map Classification',
with the data showing that footpaths make up the most significant proportion of the network.
Table 4.1.1 Extent of PROW in Neath Port Talbot
Definitive Map Classification

For Use By

Length (km)

Network % (Approx)

Footpath

Walkers

591.52

76.1%

Bridleway

Walkers / Horse Riders /
Cyclists

147.12

18.9%

Byway Open to All Traffic

Walkers / Horse Riders /
Cyclists / Horse Drawn & Motor
Vehicles

38.66

5%

TOTAL

777.3

100%

4.1.3 Whilst the Council does not hold data on individual paths, survey work was
previously carried out on randomly selected paths as part of statutory performance
indicators, providing a percentage of the paths that are ‘open and easy to
use’. Consequently, this provides an indication of the condition of the network. Although
these surveys are no longer a statutory requirement and therefore no longer undertaken,
the figures presented in the table below demonstrate a relatively stable trend.
Table 4.1.2 Paths in Neath Port Talbot 'Open and Easy to Use'

14

Year

Paths Open & Easy to Use

2014/15

68.9%

2013/14

67.3%

2012/13

68.2%

2011/12

59.9%

2010/11

59.9%

2009/10

64.8%

2008/09

68.6%

Page 66

Figure 4.1 Access Provision in Neath Port Talbot

Neath Port Talbot Council - Rights of Way Improvement Plan (2020-2030)-Tracked Changes - February 2020

4 . Assessment of Access Provision in Neath Port Talbot

15

Page 67

4 . Assessment of Access Provision in Neath Port Talbot

Neath Port Talbot Council - Rights of Way Improvement Plan (2020-2030)-Tracked Changes - February 2020

16

4.1.4 As paths can be created, diverted or extinguished, the length of the rights of way
network is not static. Extinguishments are however rare, with a greater tendency for paths
to be diverted onto more appropriate routes. With that being the case, the path network
is gradually growing each year, following successful applications made by members of
the public for new public rights of way. Since the publication of the first ROWIP, the
Council's PROW network has increased from 697km to 777km.
4.1.5 The Definitive Map and Statement can be viewed by appointment at the Council
Offices at The Quays, Baglan Energy Park. A further good resource for anyone interested
in using the PROW network are the 'Ordnance Survey Explorer Maps', which not only
show the updated path network but also the open access land which includes open country,
common land and dedicated land.
4.1.6 Since the network of PROW is basically a historic one, it does not always meet
current needs. The impact of any such deficiencies are reduced when other forms of
countryside access are considered, however opportunities to improve the access provision
are actively pursued and will continue to be an integral part of future delivery. However,
when other forms of countryside access are considered alongside the path network, any
deficiencies in the network itself are often less relevant.
4.1.7 There are legislative mechanisms to register new PROW based on 20 year use,
and legal provisions to alter the current network and to create permissive paths by
agreement. This could thereby alter the network to better reflect its current use.
4.2 Cycle Routes and Adopted Highway
4.2.1 Within the urban and semi-rural environment, PROW are often intertwined with
the adopted highway network and with cycle routes, providing a sustainable transport
alternative for commuters, as well as the role they play as a leisure resource.
4.2.2 National Cycle Network (NCN) 887 was created in 2013 as part of the Lottery
funded Connect 2 scheme, creating a cycle route between Aberafan Seafront, Port Talbot,
Cwmavon, Pontrhydyfen and Afan Forest Park, the majority of which is off-road. In addition,
there are sections of the Neath Canal towpath which have been recently improved and
are open to cyclists by permission of the Neath Canal Navigation Company. also offering
easy access opportunities for less able users. Swansea Canal (with exception to Swansea
Canal Local Nature Reserve) is also available for cycling by permission of the Canal and
River Trust (Glandwr Cymru in Wales), both canals offering easy access opportunities for
less able users.
4.2.3 Rural cycleways are an important element in the range of opportunities for gaining
access to the countryside in Neath Port Talbot. Where they have been developed on
disused railway lines their gradient is often suitable for users with various mobility problems.
The 'Amman Valley Cycle Route' is a proposed cycle route from Garnant to Cwmtwrch,
largely utilising a disused railway track, traversing both Neath Port Talbot and
Carmarthenshire. As of 2019, the cycle route is largely complete from Garnant to
Cwmllynfell, with a short gap near the Forge Washery site in Lower Brynamman.

Page 68

4.2.4 Neath Port Talbot has also developed an international reputation for the quality
of its mountain biking routes in the Afan Valley. These routes are a valuable tourism
resource and have helped raise the profile of Neath Port Talbot as an outdoor visitor
destination. Whilst there are challenges to be had with managing conflict between walkers
and mountain bikers, the momentum behind the mountain biking industry has resulted in
wider access improvements, such as family friendly routes and provides opportunities to
engage the younger generation in increased physical activity.
4.3 Canal Network
4.3.1 The remnant canal network in Neath Port Talbot provides a highly valued and
locally significant means of countryside access. The canal towpaths alongside the Swansea,
Neath and Tennant Canals allow walkers of all abilities an opportunity to walk through the
countryside, Canal towpaths alongside the Swansea and Neath canals allow good cycling
opportunities and, along with the Tennant Canal, offer walkers of all abilities an opportunity
to walk through the Countryside, also acting as commuter routes between settlements.
4.3.2 Due to their relatively flat surface and their proximity to residential areas, the
towpaths are particularly important as a means of access for people with limited mobility
problems.

Neath Port Talbot Council - Rights of Way Improvement Plan (2020-2030)-Tracked Changes - February 2020

4 . Assessment of Access Provision in Neath Port Talbot

17

Page 69

4 . Assessment of Access Provision in Neath Port Talbot

Neath Port Talbot Council - Rights of Way Improvement Plan (2020-2030)-Tracked Changes - February 2020

Picture 4.1 Neath Canal

4.4 Long Distance Trails
4.4.1 There are long distance trails which pass through Neath Port Talbot, providing
links to adjacent local authority areas.
Wales Coast Path
4.4.2 The Wales Coast Path was opened formally in 2012, with the section in Neath
Port Talbot benefiting from the creation of a new footpath into Bridgend and a new route
through Baglan Burrows to Aberafan Seafront.

18

4.4.3 Owing to the industrial presence along the coastline, the challenges of remaining
within the desired 2km resulted in the creation of two routes in Neath Port Talbot. The
routes enter the County Borough over the newly installed bridge from Kenfig National
Nature Reserve in Bridgend, splitting into an upland and lowland route, before entering
Swansea along the Tennant Canal at Jersey Marine. The upland route provides the best
views of the coastline, whilst the lowland route takes in Aberafan Seafront and our most
extensive dune system at Baglan Burrows.

Page 70

Picture 4.2 Installation of Bridge Linking Neath Port
Talbot and Bridgend

Great Dragon Ride (North South Bridleway)

Neath Port Talbot Council - Rights of Way Improvement Plan (2020-2030)-Tracked Changes - February 2020

4 . Assessment of Access Provision in Neath Port Talbot

4.4.4 The 47km section of this national bridleway commences at Margam Park and
passes through Afan Forest Park in a generally northern direction to Banwen. From
Banwen, the route travels up through the Brecon Beacons west to Talybont, near
Aberystwyth, before heading up to the north coast. This is a challenging upland ride or
walk, much of it through forest areas, but there are also outstanding views of the Brecon
Beacons and the coast.
St. Illtud's Walk
4.4.5 This path links Pembrey Country Park in Carmarthenshire with Margam Park in
Neath Port Talbot, passing through the upland part of Swansea en route. The trail is 110km
in length, of which 61km is within Neath Port Talbot, and passes through a variety of rural
and coastal landscapes. In conjunction with the Ramblers Association the route has recently
been more closely re-aligned onto public rights of way by the three local authorities,
resulting in its re-launch in 2017.

Page 71

19

4 . Assessment of Access Provision in Neath Port Talbot

Neath Port Talbot Council - Rights of Way Improvement Plan (2020-2030)-Tracked Changes - February 2020

Ogwr Ridgeway
4.4.6 This path starts at Margam Country Park and extends to the western end of the
Taff Ely Ridgeway in Bridgend. The trail is 24.1km in length, of which 5km is within Neath
Port Talbot, and offers spectacular walking in a variety of upland and valley
scenery. Panoramic views of rugged, narrow valleys can be obtained to the north, with
the hills of Devon and Somerset usually visible to the south.
4.5 Waterfall Walks
4.5.1 Of particular interest to Neath Port Talbot is the range of waterfall walks that exist,
including Aberdulais and Melincourt Falls, and Sgwd Gladus (Angel Falls) at the foot of
the Brecon Beacons National Park. The falls are steeped in industrial heritage, in addition
to being sited within some of our most important ecological sites, providing a range of
points of interest for visitors.
Picture 4.3 Angel Falls

20

Page 72

4.6 Public Access under CROW Act 2000 and Common Land
4.6.1 Whilst PROW provide the main linear means of access in Neath Port Talbot, there
are also extensive areas of open access and common land, currently comprising: Access
Land which comprises Open Country, Common Land and Dedicated Land currently
comprising:
1,389 hectares open access land;
1,783 hectares common land;
9,784 hectares freehold estate of Natural Resources Wales (NRW) Welsh Government
Woodland Estate.
4.6.2 The 'Register of Common Land' is held at the Civic Centre in Port Talbot. Land
classified as open country under the CROW Act is shown on maps which can be viewed
on the NRW website.
4.6.3 Figure 4.1 gives a broad overview of the extent of these areas. Access provision
in the Afan and Neath Valleys is improved greatly by the extent of NRW owned forest
plantations / woodland. Whilst there may be historic issues with the overplanting of PROW,
alternative routes are generally available along forest tracks providing significant
opportunities for walking, cycling and horse riding. Common Land is particularly prevalent
in the Amman Valley and provides an additional resource for access to the countryside.
4.7 Coastal Access
4.7.1 With exception to the Wales Coast Path, Aberafan Beach at Sandfields is the main
area of accessible coastline in Neath Port Talbot and is promoted as a tourist
destination. The beach is adjacent to the urban area, is easily accessible and has a range
of play facilities and food outlets.
4.7.2 The promenade also provides links to the wider Coast Path and the National Cycle
Network, linking through to the rural cycle network in the valleys. It is very urban in nature,
with a number of facilities for families and visitors, whilst a short walk to Whitford Point at
the mouth of the Neath Estuary, provides a more natural coastal environment.

Neath Port Talbot Council - Rights of Way Improvement Plan (2020-2030)-Tracked Changes - February 2020

4 . Assessment of Access Provision in Neath Port Talbot

4.7.3 At the eastern side of the County Borough, a public footpath gives access to the
edge of the foreshore at Margam Sands, although there is no public right of access over
the foreshore, which is privately owned. The beach can however, be accessed by following
the Coast Path over the border into Bridgend, at Kenfig National Nature Reserve.
4.8 Permissive Access
4.8.1 In addition to statutory rights of access, the County Borough is fortunate in having
considerable areas of land to which public access is available by permission of the
landowners, making a significant contribution to the range of options for access to the
countryside.

Page 73

21

4 . Assessment of Access Provision in Neath Port Talbot

Neath Port Talbot Council - Rights of Way Improvement Plan (2020-2030)-Tracked Changes - February 2020

22

4.8.2 Access to these areas of land is provided on a very secure basis as the landowners
are either public bodies, trusts or private landowners who have entered into access
agreements with the Local Authority. There are a number of ecologically important sites
and accessible sites owned by the Woodland Trust and Wildlife Trust of South and West
Wales, however most significant in terms of access are those owned by the Council and
Community / Town Councils.
4.8.3 There are three major country parks in Neath Port Talbot: Margam Park, Gnoll
Country Park and Afan Forest Park, and there is also a smaller Country Park at Craig
Gwladus, Cadoxton. These parks provide the public with an opportunity to experience a
variety of countryside landscapes in a secure and more easily accessible environment.
The parks have waymarked paths, are accessible by public transport and have car parks,
whilst the three major parks also have visitor centres and/or cafes.
4.8.4 In addition, there are currently five Local Nature Reserves, a number of accessible
woodlands and a range of high quality urban parks throughout the County Borough. There
are too many to list here, however many of them can be found on the Council’s website
(6)
under Leisure and Culture .
Picture 4.4 Gnoll Country Park

4.9 Open Space
4.9.1 In 2013, the Council undertook and published an assessment of open space
provision across Neath Port Talbot as part of the evidence base supporting the Local
Development Plan (LDP), ultimately informing the policies in the adopted Plan.

6

www.npt.gov.uk/parks

Page 74

4.9.2 The assessment identified shortfalls in the different categories of provision across
the County Borough, with all wards having a shortfall in at least one category of open
space, with the vast majority experiencing multiple deficiencies by category. There is better
provision for ‘informal’ open space, however this category was also found to be lacking in
30% of the wards.
4.10 Neath Port Talbot Public Consultation (2017)
4.10.1 A targeted consultation was undertaken by the Council in November 2017. An
online questionnaire was disseminated via existing networks and also publicised extensively
through partners and social media. Whilst the majority of the questions related to use of
the public rights of way network and countryside access, participants were also asked
whether they felt it was easy to access the countryside in Neath Port Talbot.
4.10.2 62% answered yes to this question, citing a wide range of access opportunities
to substantiate their view. Of the 38% that answered no, reasons primarily focused on a
need for better information / signage, with some localised examples of routes in need of
improvement work.
4.11 Overview
4.11.1 Whilst there is wide ranging access provision in Neath Port Talbot, there are
localised areas that will need to be addressed as part of the Delivery Plan. Previous
performance indicators and feedback from users demonstrate that access problems exist
on substantial parts of the PROW network through lack of maintenance or obstruction,
and the need to continue efforts to open up neglected paths will continue throughout the
period of this plan.
4.11.2
Where paths are in remote locations and have not been subject to public
complaint, a pragmatic approach will need to be taken, ensuring that resources are targeted
towards PROW that deliver the most benefit.

Neath Port Talbot Council - Rights of Way Improvement Plan (2020-2030)-Tracked Changes - February 2020

4 . Assessment of Access Provision in Neath Port Talbot

4.11.3 In addition to PROW, it is clear that access provision is greatly enhanced by other
resources, such as parks, permissive routes and cycle routes. However, there are
deficiencies in open space within settlements and budgetary pressures will present
challenges to the Council’s ability in providing such resources in the future. Whilst the
provision of these resources primarily falls outside the scope of this Plan, there will be a
need to work collaboratively with colleagues and partners to ensure that the Council
maximises opportunities to provide access to the countryside and the wider natural
environment.

23

Page 75

5 . Assessment of Use in Neath Port Talbot

Neath Port Talbot Council - Rights of Way Improvement Plan (2020-2030)-Tracked Changes - February 2020

5 Assessment of Use in Neath Port Talbot
5.0.1 In order to make the most of our Public Rights of Way, the wider countryside and
open space, there is a need to understand the extent that people make use of these
resources, the barriers to their use and measures that could be put in place to provide
better opportunities.
5.0.2 Where national surveys have already been undertaken, the Council has assessed
this data. In addition however, the Council has also directly sought the views of local
residents through a targeted consultation specifically on access to the countryside in Neath
Port Talbot.
5.1 National Survey for Wales (2016-2017)
5.1.1 NRW undertook a nationwide survey on outdoor recreation between 2016 and
2017 and the Council considers the findings to be relevant to Neath Port
Talbot. Respondents included people reporting relatively low participation in outdoor
recreation, with 81% of adults living in Wales taking part in one or more activity at least
once in the last 12 months. However, only a minority of people (18%) were ‘frequent’
participants, based on those who reported 20 or more visits to the outdoors in the last 4
weeks.
5.1.2 There were some differences in the demographics of people visiting the countryside,
with a higher proportion of men than women, more people living in rural areas than those
in urban areas and a decrease in visits with an increase in age.
5.1.3 Walking was by far the most common activity, at 72% of all adults, followed by
picnicking (31%) or taking children to the playground (31%). Local parks are clearly an
important resource, as these are the most frequently visited locations (30%), followed by
the beach or coast (19%) and woodland / forest (14%). Also of note, 47% of adults typically
travel less than a mile to visit the outdoors, demonstrating the importance of ‘doorstep’
opportunities in outdoor recreation.
Motivation and Barriers
5.1.4 The reasons for visiting sites seem to be different for each location. People visiting
the beach or coast do so for fresh air, relaxation and good weather, whilst visits to the hills
are more motivated by health and exercise. Not surprisingly, visits to parks are usually to
spend time with the family or entertain children.

24

5.1.5 For those reporting no visits in the last year, the most common reason that was
given was lack of time (28%), closely followed by physical disability (24%), other health
reasons (19%) and old age (19%). Only 2% said there was nowhere for them to go or that
they did not know where to go (1.7%).
5.1.6 For respondents who hadn’t visited the outdoors in the last 4 weeks, the most
common response was bad weather.

Page 76

5.2 Neath Port Talbot Public Consultation (2017)
5.2.1 A targeted consultation was undertaken by the Council to assess the extent of
use and access to the countryside in Neath Port Talbot. A total of 106 responses were
received.
5.2.2 A significant proportion of respondents were frequent users of PROW, or the
countryside in general, with 37% visiting the countryside daily, and 46% visiting at least
weekly.
5.2.3 Of type of area visited, country / urban parks were the first choice for most people,
closely followed by mountain / open moorland. When considering the total number of
nd
rd
choices made for this category (including 2 , 3 , etc. options) however, the highest
categories: mountain / open moorland, woodland / forest and country / urban parks are
almost equal in popularity. Of note, farmland and pavement / country lane are least popular.
5.2.4 PROW were the most popular means to visit the countryside at 49%, with open
access land / publicly accessible space at 24%.
5.2.5 In terms of motivation for visiting the countryside, 40% of people cited health and
well-being, with dog walking / leisure in general, motivating approximately 20% each. Of
leisure, these were generally a combination of horse riding, walking, fishing and
photography. A smaller proportion of people (13%) cited family activity as their reason.
5.2.6 When asked whether it was easy to access the countryside, of the answers
received, 62% indicated yes and 38% no. Reasons used for this response included (for
yes), areas being accessible / easy to get to and from where people lived, good choice of
walks, although availability of / cost of parking was mentioned a few times as a constraint.
Of reasons cited for preventing people accessing the countryside, lack of information
(28%), lack of signage / waymarking (22%), obstructions / accessibility issues (20%) were
the most popular responses.

Neath Port Talbot Council - Rights of Way Improvement Plan (2020-2030)-Tracked Changes - February 2020

5 . Assessment of Use in Neath Port Talbot

5.2.7 When asked what measures could be put in place to encourage greater use of
the countryside, the strongest responses were better site based signage (54%), followed
by better parking / transport links (39%), suggestions on places to go (34%), with organised
activities and ideas for family activities being selected by 16% each.
5.2.8 For access to information on where to go, web based information was by far the
most popular answer, at 42% of responses received, followed by smart phone at 21%.
More traditional methods are still being used, with 14% of people preferring to use ordnance
survey maps and 11% preferring leaflets.
5.2.9 In addition, respondents were asked to identify specific areas that were important
to them and issues / areas that required improvement works. These responses will be
used to inform the work plan in the form of Delivery Plans, which will be produced on an
annual basis to support the delivery of this Improvement Plan.

Page 77

25

6 . Evaluation

Neath Port Talbot Council - Rights of Way Improvement Plan (2020-2030)-Tracked Changes - February 2020

6 Evaluation
6.0.1 The first ROWIP provided the Council with a framework within which to deliver
positive change for countryside access. Local Authorities throughout Wales were fortunate
in being able to utilise a dedicated fund to support delivery of the Plan, in the form of the
Welsh Government 'Rights of Way Improvement Programme'. With the support of this
grant, the Council has delivered an annual programme of improvement works, with a
particular focus on increasing accessibility, improvement to structures and delivery of
promotional activities and resources.
6.0.2 Notable achievements include the creation of the Neath Port Talbot section of the
Wales Coast Path and the Great Dragon Bridleway, re-routing and re-launching St. Illtyd’s
Walk, a significant expansion in provision for cycling, creation of an online resource for
promoted walks and delivery of a wide range of activities to promote access to the
countryside and health. A more detailed breakdown of delivery against the ROWIP is
provided in Appendix B.
6.0.3 Despite these achievements, the Council recognises that challenges still exist.
There remain areas of the network that are overgrown or obstructed and there remain
deficiencies for horse riders, although the Great Dragon Ride has enhanced this provision.
Furthermore, it is clear that participation in the outdoor environment is still low for significant
proportions of the population and measures to address this will need to play a prominent
part in future action.
6.0.4 Progress has been made in processing legal orders, with the number of outstanding
legal orders greatly reduced. The need to deal with these remains, with issues to do with
historic anomalies on PROW that are shown going through housing estates becoming
increasingly prevalent over the last few years.
6.0.5 The overall aims and policy areas of the first ROWIP are still very relevant and
will be addressed as part of the revised Plan. Broadly, these were:
Definitive Map policies;
Public rights of way maintenance and improvement;
Enforcement;
Publicity and promotion; and
Management of countryside access other than public rights of way.

26

6.0.6 There have been a number of policy and legislative changes since the first ROWIP
was published and these will need to be considered in identifying what needs to be done
over the next 10 years. Most significantly, the 'Well-being of Future Generations Act'
requires the Council to take a holistic and sustainable approach to all activities and the
Council should be meeting the needs of our future generations through implementation
of this Plan.

Page 78

6.1 Benefits of Public Rights of Way
6.1.1
for:

The PROW network along with wider access provision, provides notable benefits

Health
6.1.2 DEFRA published an evidence statement in 2017 that outlined the benefits between
(7)
health and the natural environment . The statement recognised the role that access to
the natural environment had for well-being, particularly so for mental health.
6.1.3 The cited benefits included reductions in stress, fatigue, anxiety and depression,
together with evidence that these benefits may be most significant for marginalised groups.
Socio-economic inequality in mental well-being has been shown to be 40% narrower
among those who report good access to green / recreational areas, compared with those
with poorer access.
6.1.4 The report reinforces the concept that PROW, and other access to the countryside
/ natural environment, play a significant role in improving health and well-being, whilst
providing opportunities to reduce the impacts of socio-economic inequalities through
greater equality of access to green space.
6.1.5 'Green Infrastructure' is recognised as delivering multiple benefits for both urban
and rural residents, and opportunities should be taken to integrate access provision into
the delivery of green infrastructure, working collaboratively with partners and colleagues
across the Council.
Open Space / Recreation
6.1.6 Given that transport and mobility may be more limited for some members of our
communities, urban and semi-urban networks and parks will play an important role in the
provision of access for health, well-being and recreation.

Neath Port Talbot Council - Rights of Way Improvement Plan (2020-2030)-Tracked Changes - February 2020

6 . Evaluation

6.1.7 Although not traditionally seen as a means to access the countryside, their role
in supporting more active lifestyles and enjoyment of the natural environment is significant,
either as destinations in their own right, or as stepping stones to accessing more rural
locations.
6.1.8 The more focused provision of facilities and surfaced paths offers greater access
opportunities to a much wider range of the public, who may not be able to access more
remote locations. Consequently, opportunities should be taken to improve access to, or
encourage use of, urban green space, alongside the wider countryside.

7

Maxwell, S & Lovell, R. (2017) 'Evidence Statement on the links between Natural Environments and Human
Health' (Defra and University of Exeter Medical School).

Page 79

27

6 . Evaluation

Neath Port Talbot Council - Rights of Way Improvement Plan (2020-2030)-Tracked Changes - February 2020

28

Active Travel
6.1.9 In recognition of the need to increase physical activity and reduce carbon emissions,
promotion of more sustainable means of travel is now a high priority in Wales. The Council's
'Integrated Network Map' has identified key opportunities to create or improve commuter
routes for cycling and walking, and PROW are well placed to support delivery and linkages
to these routes.
Tourism
6.1.10
PROW also plays a key factor in economic development, in particular by
supporting the growth of the tourism economy. PROW create opportunities for connecting
visitors to rural and urban areas and enables access to natural assets such as waterfalls
and other key routes such as mountain bike trails.
6.1.11 In future, visitors will be looking for ‘undiscovered’ places to visit in addition to
existing, well-maintained, high profile routes so investment is crucial in maintaining and
creating visitor interest in our area.
6.2 Key Issues in Neath Port Talbot
6.2.1 The key issues that emerged from the assessments are summarised in the table
below, including the measures that will be taken to address the points.
Table 6.2.1 Key Issues & Targeted Action in Neath Port Talbot
Issue

Action

Locally, PROW are the most popular means to
access countryside. Nationally, local access was
considered to be important.

Maintain focus on maintenance and improvement
of PROW whilst continuing to take a holistic
approach to countryside access and access to local
green space.

Processing of legal orders remains a requirement,
with a need to address historic anomalies.

Retain provision for the processing of legal orders.

Locally, open moorland / forest / parks are almost
equal in popularity, whilst nationally, urban parks
are most popular.

Ensure access provision remains varied, providing
access to key areas of interest, including local
green space.

Walking is the most popular activity.

Deliver measures that support walking, focus on
footpaths, provision of information to promote new
routes and encourage new users.

Frequent users are low, and there is an inequality
in the demographics of users, seeing reduced use
by women, urban residents and older residents.

Introduce measures to encourage increased
participation, and in particular for low use groups;
engage with low use groups to ensure needs are
being met.

Page 80

Issue

Action

Health is the biggest motivator for visiting the
countryside and countryside access is proven to
provide benefits for physical and mental health and
well-being.

Actively pursue 'access for all routes', alongside
more challenging routes, providing the opportunity
for users to progress and increase fitness; work in
partnership to deliver activities that promote access
to the countryside for health benefits.

Nationally, family orientated activities (picnic or
playground) are the second most popular activity,
although locally, family activity is relatively low at
13%.

Work in partnership to deliver activities and provide
resources that encourage families to access the
countryside.

The majority of people locally feel it is easy to
access the countryside, on the basis of areas being
accessible and a good choice of walks.

Maintain existing maintenance programme,
undertaking a process of continual assessment
with opportunity for revision.

38% of respondents locally feel that it is not easy
to access the countryside, citing lack of information
and signage as the primary reason, followed by
issues with obstructions.

Introduce further measures to provide information
on access to the countryside; continue with
programme of waymarking; continue to deal with
obstructions as they are identified and/or reported
by users.

Measures to put in place to encourage greater use
of the countryside include better site based
signage, then better parking/ transport, suggestions
on places to go, organised activities / ideas for
activities.

Promote easy / short / accessible routes; improve
and promote access for all routes; where possible,
identify parking / public transport options as part
of promotion of routes.

For access to information, web based followed by
smart phone most preferred.

Prioritise provision of information digitally, whilst
continuing to support the provision of leaflets where
appropriate.

Specific issues identified in localised areas.

Each to be assessed and/or addressed during first
year of the Delivery Plan, with remaining work to
be built into subsequent years work.

Access to the countryside is a key element of the
tourism economy.

Deliver initiatives that support the promotion of
Neath Port Talbot as a tourist destination.

PROW can support the aims of the Active Travel
Act.

Work collaboratively to support delivery of the
Integrated Network Map and to encourage walking
and cycling as a means of travel.

Neath Port Talbot Council - Rights of Way Improvement Plan (2020-2030)-Tracked Changes - February 2020

6 . Evaluation

29

Page 81

7 . Statement of Action

Neath Port Talbot Council - Rights of Way Improvement Plan (2020-2030)-Tracked Changes - February 2020

7 Statement of Action
7.0.1 The 'Statement of Action' outlines the Council's vision for Neath Port Talbot and
the objectives that will be addressed as part of this Rights of Way Improvement Plan.
7.0.2
The objectives are designed to deliver against the needs identified in the
assessment, whilst also recognising the legislative processes that are required to underpin
delivery of the Plan. It will also provide a framework for the actions and activities to be
taken in delivering the requirements of this Plan.

Vision
That countryside access provision in Neath Port Talbot provides the best opportunity
possible for residents and visitors to enjoy the benefits that it provides.

7.0.3 In working towards this vision, the Council will adopt the principles of 'Sustainable
(8)
Management of Natural Resources' , whilst also taking each opportunity to contribute
towards the well-being goals and objectives set for Neath Port Talbot.

Objectives
Objective 1: The Public Rights of Way network will be protected, maintained in good
condition and easy to use.

7.0.4

Actions will deliver against the following themes:

Involvement – facilitate and encourage public involvement in activities that support
management of PROW.
Routine Works - including maintenance, improvement, waymarking and inspection.
Enforcement and Negotiation - addressing obstructions such as overplanting and
illegal structures.
Strategic Planning - inputting to wider strategies and plans such as the Local
Development Plan, Active Travel, other highways policies, etc.
Advice and Advocacy - advising on planning applications and works being undertaken
by the Council, partners and members of the public.

30

Objective 2: Opportunities to improve access to wider countryside / green space will
be improved, working in partnership where necessary.

7.0.5
8

Actions will deliver against the following themes:

Page 82

https://cdn.naturalresources.wales/media/678317/introducing-smnr-booklet-english.pdf

Open Access - providing and improving signage.
Public Open Space - ensuring that PROW that serves these areas meets the needs
of users.
Partnership Working - pursuing opportunities to deliver multiple benefits alongside
maintenance of PROW, through collaboration and advice.

Objective 3: Maintain a robust system to record and process information on public
rights of way and relevant countryside access.

7.0.6

Actions will deliver against the following themes:

Definitive Map and Statement - kept up to date and an electronic mapping system is
in place to portray the map and statement.
Claimed Rights of Way - continuing to process in line with policies for prioritisation.
Legal Orders - continuing to process in line with policies for prioritisation.

Objective 4: Public Rights of Way and other countryside access meet the needs of
users, now and for the future.

7.0.7

Actions will deliver against the following themes:

Involvement - people will have the opportunity to inform works being carried out and
partnership working with the Local Access Forum and wider sectors will be actively
pursued to understand the needs of people who require additional measures to access
the countryside.
Access for All - ensuring that maintenance /improvement works and promotional
activities maximise the opportunities for all users to access the countryside.
Monitoring and Evaluation - ensuring that the ROWIP, and associated Delivery Plans,
remain fit for purpose and meeting the needs of users.

Neath Port Talbot Council - Rights of Way Improvement Plan (2020-2030)-Tracked Changes - February 2020

7 . Statement of Action

Objective 5: Countryside access will be promoted, providing benefits for health and
well-being, tourism and recreation.

7.0.8

Actions will deliver against the following themes:

Provision of Information - to include the promotion of the Countryside Code,
improvements to online-material and further exploration of digital technology.
Site-Based Signage - to support waymarking, and information points.
Engagement - through the provision of activities that encourage use of the natural
environment for health, recreation.
Partnership Working - raising awareness of the opportunities and benefits that the
natural environment provides.

Page 83

31

7 . Statement of Action

Neath Port Talbot Council - Rights of Way Improvement Plan (2020-2030)-Tracked Changes - February 2020

32

Page 84

8 Policies
8.0.1 The following policies will be implemented in support of the delivery of the identified
objectives.
Maintenance / Improvement Works

Policy 1
Standards of maintenance will be based on an assessment of the historic nature and
use of the path, dating back to when the path came into being, or any subsequent
improvement works. There will be a presumption to retain surfaces in a permeable /
natural state unless of priority as an easy access route.

Policy 2
Public Rights of Way which also carry private rights of access will be maintained in
accordance with the maintenance requirements of the public right only. Additional
access requirements as part of the private right will remain the responsibility of the
private user.

Policy 3
An annual maintenance programme is in place, addressing the needs of the most
frequently used paths. Additional work will be undertaken and/or added to the
maintenance programme on a priority basis, with highest priority given to those that
present a safety hazard to the public, followed by well used paths and then those that
have potential to be well-used / promoted.

Neath Port Talbot Council - Rights of Way Improvement Plan (2020-2030)-Tracked Changes - February 2020

8 . Policies

Policy 4
Improvements to Public Rights of Way will be prioritised on a number of criteria, to
include current and potential levels of public use, potential to improve accessibility
and accessibility from public transport routes and areas of new development.

Page 85

33

8 . Policies

Neath Port Talbot Council - Rights of Way Improvement Plan (2020-2030)-Tracked Changes - February 2020

Policy 5
There will be a presumption of least restrictive, option and and most accessible, option
in the maintenance, improvement and promotion of the Public Rights of Way
Network. This will include minimal use of structures in response to applications for
new furniture on Public Rights of Way. Stiles will no longer be approved or installed
by the Council unless a legitimate reason can be demonstrated.

Policy 6
The Council will only erect new barriers on footpaths and bridleways to restrict vehicles
as a last resort and only where certain criteria are met, including evidence of illegal
use and where legitimate users are not disadvantaged.

Policy 7
Improvement and maintenance works will be carried out in accordance with all
legislative requirements in respect to biodiversity, including the biodiversity and
resilience of ecosystems statutory duty. All works will ensure biodiversity is maintained
and enhanced, and where appropriate may include works for the benefit of biodiversity.

Legal Processes / Orders

Policy 8
Applications for making legal orders in respect of Public Rights of Way will be prioritised
using a suitable scoring matrix, taking into account health and safety, benefit to network
(9)
and wider Council strategies .

Policy 9

34

The Council will seek to resolve issues on Public Rights of Way through negotiation
with the landowner before resorting to legal proceedings.

9

Appendix C.

Page 86

Policy 10
There will be a presumption against permitting Town and Country Planning Act
Diversions unless it can be proven that a Public Right of Way must be diverted to
enable the development to be carried out and where an acceptable and comparable
alternative route will be provided.

Policy 11
When carrying out improvement works, path/area maintenance or when designing or
carrying out works on new Public Rights of Way – flood risk assessments should be
considered and the necessary permit or licences obtained.

Financial Charges

Policy 11 12
The Council will recover from applicants the costs associated with making legal orders,
including full cost of advertising and costs incurred by the Council. If the change to
the path in question has some public benefit, the Council may decide to share the
cost of making the order.

Neath Port Talbot Council - Rights of Way Improvement Plan (2020-2030)-Tracked Changes - February 2020

8 . Policies

Policy 12 13
The Definitive Map will be available for public inspection free of charge at the Council
Offices at Baglan Energy Park during normal office hours. Copies of the map will be
available to members of the public at a charge.

Policy 13 14

35

In response to Definitive Map enquiries by prospective purchasers or their agents,
written responses will incur a charge, in line with fees charged for similar enquiries of
the highway network.

Page 87

9 . Implementation and Monitoring

Neath Port Talbot Council - Rights of Way Improvement Plan (2020-2030)-Tracked Changes - February 2020

9 Implementation and Monitoring
9.1 Annual Delivery Plans
9.1.1 'Annual Delivery Plans' will be developed, outlining the action that will be taken to
deliver against the Statement of Action, and ultimately the Rights of Way Improvement
Plan.
9.1.2 Each Delivery Plan will be informed by the framework provided by the Statement
of Action, a review of the previous year’s delivery plan (where relevant) and current
resources and funding availability. Issues identified as part of the assessment process will
be addressed within the Delivery Plans.
9.1.3 The Delivery Plan will be held by the Countryside and Wildlife Team, and may be
updated in response to more urgent priorities coming to light during the year. Activities
that are delayed for such reasons, will be rescheduled for delivery in the following year.
9.2 Delivery Mechanism and Funding
9.2.1 Delivery of the ROWIP will be led by the Countryside and Wildlife Team, within
the Planning and Public Protection Department of the Council. Whilst the responsibility
for Public Rights of Way falls to this team, the ROWIP carries a wider vision for countryside
access, recreation, health and well-being and tourism. This will require a collaborative
approach between many departments of the Council, to maximise the benefits that this
Plan can deliver.
9.2.2 Current funding for delivery of this Plan is reliant on existing resources within the
Council's core budget. The Welsh Government Rights of Way Improvement Programme
no longer exists, therefore significant improvement works will require efforts to secure
external funding.
9.2.3 The Local Access Forum will also play a role in delivery of the Plan, through the
provision of advice and through the role that its members has in promoting access to the
countryside. Furthermore, opportunities to work collaboratively with other external partners
will be pursued.
9.3 Monitoring and Evaluation

36

9.3.1 At the end of every 3 years, a more comprehensive review and evaluation process
will be undertaken, assessing effectiveness of the policies and actions being taken. The
outcome of the review will be reported to Council and the Local Access Forum, whilst
providing the opportunity to make changes to key policies of the Plan.
9.3.2 As part of the third review (Year 9), an assessment will be undertaken to assess
future delivery of the ROWIP and a potential full review of the Plan.

Page 88

Appendix A: Legal and Reporting Processes
A. Procedure for Applications for Diversion, Extinguishment and Creation Orders
(generally based on consent)
A.1 To make an application to divert, extinguish or create a Public Right of Way, please
contact the Rights of Way Officer on 01693 686868 or countryside@npt.gov.uk
A.2 The applicant will then be provided with the application forms that must be completed
and returned. It is recommended that the applicant meets with the Rights of Way Officer
to discuss the proposal and understand what additional information may be required.
A.3

An application form will need to be accompanied by:
An Ordnance Survey Map detailing the proposal;
Proof of ownership of all land involved with the proposal and consent from all parties,
if other landowners are involved; and
Confirmation of acceptance of any charging policy.

B. Procedure for Applications for New Public Rights of Way (based on user and /
(10)

or historic evidence)

A.4 To make an application for a new Public Rights of Way on user and/or historic
evidence, the person who will be identified as the ‘Main Applicant’ should contact the
Rights of Way Officer on 01639 686868 or countryside@npt.gov.uk
A.5

The process will be conducted in two stages:

Stage 1
A.6 The Main Applicant will be provided with official evidence forms and maps for the
proposed new path. Ideally, the forms should be completed by at least 10 people who
have used the path for a period of at least 20 years.

Neath Port Talbot Council - Rights of Way Improvement Plan (2020-2030)-Tracked Changes - February 2020

Appendix A: . Legal and Reporting Processes

A.7 Each completed evidence form will need to be accompanied by an Ordnance Survey
Map detailing the proposed new Public Right of Way.
A.8 The Main Applicant must also provide proof of ownership for the entire length of the
new path. The Land Registry will be able to supply a copy of the title plan and schedule.
Stage 2
A.9 The Main Applicant will meet with the Rights of Way Officer, who will review the
evidence forms, OS maps of the claimed path and the land Registry Information.
A.10 If everything is in order the Main Applicant will be required to complete three
notices:

10

There is no charge for this process.

Page 89

37

Appendix A: . Legal and Reporting Processes

Neath Port Talbot Council - Rights of Way Improvement Plan (2020-2030)-Tracked Changes - February 2020

One advising the Council as to the nature of the application;
One to be sent to each owner of the new path (with assistance from the Rights of
Way Officer); and
One advising the Council that the owners have been notified.
A.11 Where the land is unregistered, with no information being held by Land Registry,
the Main Applicant will be required to erect a copy of the notice, with a plan, on site for at
least 28 days. The Rights of Way Officer will assist with this process.
A.12 Following the 28 days the Main Applicant will again meet the Rights of Way Officer
and complete the remaining two notices:
One advising the Council as to the nature of the application; and
One advising the Council that the owners have been notified (via the site notice).
C. Procedure for Reporting an Issue regarding a PROW
A.13 To report an issue regarding a PROW, please contact the Countryside and Wildlife
Team on countryside@npt.gov.uk or 01639 686868.

38

Page 90

Appendix B: ROWIP (2008-2018) - Evaluation of Delivery
Table B.0.1 Rights of Way Improvement Plan (2008-2018) - Evaluation of Delivery
Policy / Action of ROWIP 2008-18

Evaluation of Delivery

POLICY AREA DM: DEFINITIVE MAP
DM: Introduction
The Map can only be amended through the legal order
making process, and the authority undertakes this area
of work through an agency agreement between the
Council’s legal officers and those in the City and County
of Swansea.

DM1: Continuous Review of the Definitive Map
Keep the Definitive Map under continuous review in
accordance with the requirements of Section 53 of the
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981.
Changes to the network are currently kept as a separate,
but complementary, record. This has not caused any
managerial problems to date but, nevertheless, the
authority does intend to make a composite legal event
order during the plan period which will formally allow the
changes to be recorded on the Map itself, and it will then
be republished with a new relevant date

Due to efficiency savings, the agency agreement was cut
and the legal function in relation to Rights of Way has
been undertaken by Neath Port Talbot’s Legal Section
since January, 2015.

The Council has continued to process applications under
section 53 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act as well as
other legal orders.
Due to budgetary pressures and limited staff resources,
this has not been achieved. Due to potential changes on
the legal process by the Welsh Government on the legal
process this will be revisited when any changes are
confirmed.

DM2: Priority for making Legal Orders in respect of
Public Rights of Way

Legal orders were undertaken in accordance with this
order of priority, as follows:

(i) Orders for the diversion or extinguishment of footpaths
and bridleways made under the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990 which are necessary for development
to take place.

(i) None since 2015 (no requests)
(ii) 3 since 2015. 3 remaining

Neath Port Talbot Council - Rights of Way Improvement Plan (2020-2030)-Tracked Changes - February 2020

Appendix B: . ROWIP (2008-2018) - Evaluation of Delivery

(iii) 16 since 2015. 14 remaining
(ii) Orders for the diversion or stopping up of public rights
of way made under the Highways Act 1980.
(iii) Definitive Map Modification Orders for adding new
public rights of way to the Definitive Map based on
evidence of public usage.

(iv) none since 2015. 65 remaining
(v) none since 2015. 0 remaining

(iv) Definitive Map Anomalies.
(v) Orders to register historic public rights (CROW Act
Sections 53 to 56).

DM3: Temporary Orders for Diversion or Closure of
Public Rights of Way
It will be the policy of the Council to make orders for the
temporary diversion or closure of public rights of way,
where appropriate, on the request of landowners or

39
Since 2008 the Council has processed 62 temporary
closures on the rights of way network, they majority of
which were to allow forestry operations to take place, on
safety grounds.

Page 91

Appendix B: . ROWIP (2008-2018) - Evaluation of Delivery

Neath Port Talbot Council - Rights of Way Improvement Plan (2020-2030)-Tracked Changes - February 2020

statutory undertakers. Orders of this nature are usually
made within six weeks of the request, and this period
allows time for statutory notices to be placed in the press.

DM4: Charges for certain types of Legal Order which
affect Public Rights of Way
It will be the policy of the County Borough Council to make
an appropriate charge for certain types of legal order:

Policy implemented. With exception to orders in the public
interest, the Council currently charges £1,250 (including
a £1,000 legal fee) for a temporary or permanent
diversion. This does not include advertising costs which
are charged separately.

Developers and statutory undertakers who require
temporary or permanent orders, will be expected
to pay for the costs incurred in making the order.
Landowners who require orders to be made which
are primarily for their own benefit will be charged
the full cost of the order. If the change to the path
in question has some public benefit, then the
Council may decide to share the cost of making the
order.
If the Council itself wishes to change the location
of a public path because it is in the public interest,
the council will pay for the order.
DM5: Public Inspection of the Definitive Map

The Definitive Map and Statement are available for
viewing, etc., as per the policy.

The Definitive Map will be available for public inspection
free of charge at the Council Offices at Baglan Energy
Park during normal office hours. Copies of the map will
be available to members of the public at a charge set by
the Service Level Agreement with the Ordnance Survey.

DM6: Definitive Map Land Charges Enquiries

Policy implemented and achieved.

The Countryside Section will respond to Land Charges
Section within ten working days regarding public rights of
way enquiries on Part 2 of the CON 29 search form.

DM7: Additional Definitive Map Enquiries by
Prospective Purchasers or their Agents

Policy implemented and achieved.

If the request requires only a verbal reply, the information
will be given free of charge. If a written response is
required, the County Borough Council will provide this
additional information on payment of an appropriate fee
which is consistent with the fee charged for similar
enquiries of the main highway network.

40

DM8: Protecting Public Rights of Way from
Development.

Policy implemented and achieved.

The Countryside Section will respond to the Planning
Section within 21 days regarding applications for planning
consent which affect public rights of way.

POLICY AREAS M & IP: MAINTENANCE AND IMPROVEMENT

Page 92

The County Borough Council has a statutory duty to maintain public rights of way under Section 41 of the
Highways Act 1980, and it also has a wide range of powers to improve them under the same Act. Section 60
of the CROW Act provides the authority with a duty to include measures to improve the network of public
rights of way in its ROWIP, and this is a clear indication that highway authorities are expected to use their
powers of improvement. The policies in this section provide the basis on which maintenance and improvement
work will be carried out during the plan period.

M1: Improving performance in maintaining the Rights
of Way Network
The Wales Data Unit Performance Indicator on rights of
way will continue to be the main means by which the
achievement of improved standards will be measured.
Over the plan period, the council will aim to increase the
proportion of the path network which is in a condition that
is fit for purpose.

M2: Standards of Path Maintenance

The Performance Indicators were downgraded from being
compulsory to optional. Due to budgetary pressures the
decision was taken to cease monitoring against the
indicator, however maintenance of the Network continued
as normal.

Policy implemented.

The Council has a duty to keep a highway in a safe and
fit condition for the ordinary traffic of the neighbourhood
at all times of the year. In practice, this means that the
standard of maintenance which is appropriate for each
right of way has to be based on its historic character and
use. The Council will continue to base its maintenance
duties on an assessment of the historic nature and use
of the path.

M3: Maintenance Priorities
The Council has an annual programme of routine
maintenance work but often additional work has to be
carried out urgently in the interests of public safety. The
Council will undertake the work on a priority basis:

The Council has continued to undertake the annual
programme of routine maintenance and paths are added
to the list as and when it is expedient to do so.
The system of prioritising non-routine work has continued
to be implemented and has worked well, enabling the
Council to target its resources effectively.

(i) Where a problem is discovered on a well used path
and it is a potential safety hazard to the public, the
remedial work will be regarded as top priority and it will
be carried out as soon as possible.

Neath Port Talbot Council - Rights of Way Improvement Plan (2020-2030)-Tracked Changes - February 2020

Appendix B: . ROWIP (2008-2018) - Evaluation of Delivery

(ii) A hazard discovered on a little used path will be treated
as high priority in the interests of public safety.
(iii) If a problem is discovered on a very well used path,
but it is not an immediate safety hazard, this will be next
in priority after safety issues.
(iv) Non urgent work on paths which are little used will be
the lowest priority.

M4: Methods of Implementation
The Countryside Section will manage the maintenance
and improvement programmes, by the means outlined
below:

41
Maintenance and improvement works have continued to
be overseen by the Countryside and Wildlife Team
(formerly Countryside Section) by the means outlined,
with the following changes:

Page 93

Appendix B: . ROWIP (2008-2018) - Evaluation of Delivery

Neath Port Talbot Council - Rights of Way Improvement Plan (2020-2030)-Tracked Changes - February 2020

42

(i) Countryside Project Team: This is a team of two
workers based in Unit 20 at the Crynant Business Park,
where stocks of materials and equipment are held.

The Countryside Project Team has relocated to the
Council building at the Quays, with storage at the adjacent
Service Response Centre.

(ii) Contractors: The Council will continue to employ
experienced contractors to carry out maintenance work
where their skill and expertise is required.

Due to budgetary pressures, the Community Council Path
Maintenance Scheme was revised. The Council now
offers a fixed grant for the distance of Public Rights of
Way being maintained by the Town / Community Councils,
of which three are now partaking.

(iii) Community Council Path Maintenance
Scheme: Since 1996, the Council has offered 75% grants
to Community Councils in order for them to undertake
approved maintenance on public rights of way.
The Council will welcome the continuing support of the
Community Councils during the plan period.
(iv) Neath Port Talbot Highways Staff: Each year, part
of the structural maintenance work is undertaken by
Council highway staff. This is work which is beyond the
scope of the rights of way contractors, and includes the
repair of tarmacadam surfaces and major footbridges
which are more than 10 metres in length.
(v) Landowners: Where appropriate and cost effective,
to carry out work on paths which cross their land.
(vi) Volunteers: Where public liability cover can by
provided by the volunteer group itself.

IP1: Priorities for Public Rights of Way Improvement
The criteria below will be used to determine priorities for
improvements to the Public Rights of Way network.
Highest priority will be given to:
Paths which provide communities with access to
attractive areas of countryside or coast. Additional
factors will be the level of public use and public
pressure for improvement.
Paths which can be improved to provide access to
the countryside for people with mobility problems,
or improve the safety of the path for all users.
Paths which provide access to the countryside from
public transport routes.
Paths which are little used but have the potential
to be well used following improvement works.
Paths which are located in Communities First areas
of the authority, or help meet the objectives of the
Western Valleys Strategy.
Paths which are located in the coastal area and will
contribute to the achievement of an all Wales coast
path with associated access improvements.
IP2: Improvement of Structures on Public Rights of
Way
The Council has an on going programme of stile and gate
replacement, with the aim of improving the accessibility
of the path network by replacing structures which are
easier to use. There will be a presumption in favour of:

The Council has run an annual programme of
improvements works throughout the duration of the Plan,
primarily funded through Welsh Government ROWIP
(Rights of Way Improvement Programme) grant funding,
initially set at £57K, reducing to £35K by 2018.
The grant funding was utilised to carry out improvement
works and undertake promotional and engagement
activities to encourage use of the Public Rights of Way
Network and access to the wider countryside.
Improvement activities were prioritised in line with this
policy and within the ROWIP grant criteria.
The ROWIP grant was cut in 2018 therefore future
improvement and promotional work will be undertaken
where funding can be secured.

Policy implemented, with an active programme of
replacement with easy access structures. The Council no
longer installs stiles on the network.

Page 94

(i) Replacing existing stiles on public footpaths with self
latching kissing gates,
(ii) Replacing gates on bridleways with bridlegates which
meet British Horse Society standards wherever possible.

IP3: Approval for new stiles and gates on footpaths
and bridleways

Policy implemented, taking into account potential loss of
enjoyment of the path.

Where landowners wish to erect new fence lines across
a Public Right of Way, it will be the policy of the Council
to approve applications for new structures which meet
the statutory requirements, and which do not adversely
affect the public enjoyment of the path to an unacceptable
degree.

IP4: Erection of barriers to restrict vehicles
The Council will only erect new barriers on footpaths and
bridleways as a last resort and only if the following criteria
are met:
(i) There is strong evidence that the path is being used
by unauthorised vehicular traffic.
(ii) If there are any private vehicular rights along the path,
all those persons holding such rights will have to agree
to the type of barrier being proposed.

The Council has seen an increase in requests from
landowners for structures to help combat the increasing
illegal off-road vehicle use. The Council has implemented
this policy in deciding on the structure, if any, that should
be installed.
Wherever possible, other measures to curtail misuse have
been explored first, such as seeking involvement of the
Police. Every effort has been made to establish whether
there are private access rights and where these exist,
structures have not been erected without the agreement
of all parties.

(iii) The physical nature of the site of the proposed barrier
will allow the installation of a barrier which cannot be
easily by-passed.
(iv) It will be possible to provide a barrier that will enable
the passage of all categories of user, including those with
mobility problems. If the whole length of the path is of a
width and gradient that enables it to be used by disabled
persons, then a barrier which allows the passage of wheel
chair users will be appropriate.

IP5: Improvement of path surfaces

Neath Port Talbot Council - Rights of Way Improvement Plan (2020-2030)-Tracked Changes - February 2020

Appendix B: . ROWIP (2008-2018) - Evaluation of Delivery

See response to IP1 above.

The criteria set out in Policy IP1 will be used to determine
the paths to be improved and the nature of the works to
be undertaken, recognising future maintenance
requirements of such works. Typically the work will entail
the following:
(i) Providing rolled aggregate surfaces on previously
unsurfaced paths.

43

(ii) Providing additional drainage on waterlogged paths.
(iii) Construction of steps on steep slopes to encourage
greater public use.

Page 95

Appendix B: . ROWIP (2008-2018) - Evaluation of Delivery

Neath Port Talbot Council - Rights of Way Improvement Plan (2020-2030)-Tracked Changes - February 2020

(iv) Constructing footbridges where none previously
existed to improve the accessibility of the paths to the
whole community.

POLICY AREA E: ENFORCEMENT
Under Section 130 of the Highways Act 1980 the County Borough Council, as highway authority, has a duty
to assert and protect the public right to use the highways in its administrative area, and this includes Public
Rights of Way.

E1: Priorities for removing obstructions on Public
Rights of Way

Policy implemented where required.

The criteria which the Council will use to prioritise the
workload are set out below:
(i) High Priority
(a) Where members of the public are prevented from using
the path by intimidating or aggressive behaviour by, or
on behalf of the landowner, this will be regarded as an
immediate priority, and the police will be involved if
appropriate.
(b) Recently erected structures on well used public rights
of way which are subject of numerous public complaints.
(c) Obstructions on well used paths which are a safety
hazard, such as barbed wire fences, locked gates with
barbed wire on them, metal barriers with sharp edges,
seriously defective stiles or gates.
(d) Encroaching vegetation on well used paths which is
a responsibility of the landowner to cut back.
(e) Obstructions which have been subject of a notice
served on the authority under Section 130A of the
Highways Act 1980.
These five categories are all regarded as top priority, but
which of them will be regarded as first priority at any point
in time, will depend on the circumstances of each case.
(ii) Medium Priority

44

If the problems listed in points a) to d) above are
discovered on paths which are not currently well used,
but have the potential to be well used, they will be treated
as medium priority. Such problems may be discovered
through routine monitoring, or by receiving a first complaint
from the public.
(iii) Low Priority
Where the authority discovers obstructions on little used
parts of the network which have not been subject of any
public complaint, they will be treated as low priority.

Page 96

E2: Procedure to be used to secure the removal of
obstructions
The Council will adopt the following procedure when
dealing with any obstructions on Public Rights of Way:

Policy implemented. Enforcement is seen as the last resort
and it is unusual to not succeed in resolving an issue
through negotiation or agreement. Whilst there has been
occasion to serve legal notices in relation to obstructions,
each has been resolved without needing to seek
prosecution at Court.

(i) Determine the identity of the landowner responsible
for the obstruction. Where this is not the case, the
authority will carry out a search of Land Registry records.
Where there is no record of land ownership, the Council
will use its powers under Section 143 of the Highways
Act 1980 to serve a notice requiring the removal of the
obstruction.
(ii) If the landowner can be identified, the authority will
make contact in order to request the removal of the
obstruction. In most cases a discussion with the landowner
will result in the removal of the obstruction. In appropriate
circumstances, particularly where the obstructions have
not been intentional, the Council may assist in the removal
of obstructions by providing stiles or gates as part of its
path improvement programme. In such instances
landowners will be informed that they will remain primarily
responsible for future maintenance of the structures. This
approach is in accordance with the duty of the authority
to secure an improved rights of way network which is set
out in Section 60(b) of the CROW Act 2000.
(iii) In situations where a landowner refuses to remove an
obstruction, this is a criminal offence under Section 137
of the Highways Act 1980, and the Council will seek a
prosecution of the offender in the magistrates Court.

POLICY AREA P: PUBLICITY AND PROMOTION
P1: Improving Publicity and Promotion

(i) Action achieved. See
www.npt.gov.uk/countrysideaccess.

The Council will improve the provision of information on
countryside access by the following means:
(i) Create a countryside access point on the Council’s
website which will contain information on the types of
public access available in the County Borough. The site
will contain information on public access rights and also
on the responsibilities expected of the public when
enjoying access to private land. The site will be linked to
the National Access data base being established by CCW,
and this will assist members of the public who live outside
the area to find information on local access opportunities
if they are planning to visit the area.
(ii) Increase the range of access information leaflets
produced by the Council, and include the information on
the countryside access point on the Council website. The
Local Access Forum will be consulted on the form and
content of the material that will be produced.
(iii) Make access information available at public buildings
throughout the County Borough, including those provided
by Community Councils.

Neath Port Talbot Council - Rights of Way Improvement Plan (2020-2030)-Tracked Changes - February 2020

Appendix B: . ROWIP (2008-2018) - Evaluation of Delivery

N.B. The National Access database was not established
therefore no link to this page was possible.
(ii) Production of leaflets has been carried out and have
either been distributed locally or are available on the
website (see www.npt.gov.uk/countryside), including the
new series of Wildlife Walks. However, given an
increasing demand for web-based information and the
need to reduce waste, efforts have been focused on
creating an online, interactive walking map, with the ability
to edit / update walks as needed. See
www.npt.gov.uk/walking.
(iii) See (ii) above. Whilst leaflets have been shared at
information points where they exist, the focus to provide
information has been through the online map.
New initiatives and routes for promotion have been
communicated to Forum members to share with local
members of their organisations.

Page 97

45

Appendix B: . ROWIP (2008-2018) - Evaluation of Delivery

Neath Port Talbot Council - Rights of Way Improvement Plan (2020-2030)-Tracked Changes - February 2020

(iv) Work with members of the Local Access Forum to
distribute information through organisations with which
they are involved.
(v) Promote the use of public access to the countryside
for the benefit of public health. This will be in accordance
with the aims of the Neath Port Talbot Physical Activity
Plan, and will be done as a corporate exercise and in
conjunction with outside organisations.

(v) Due to budgetary savings, staff resources to deliver
activities as a corporate exercise has been limited.
However, use has been made of external funding to work
collaboratively with partners to deliver health focused
activities such as the Council run ‘Working with Nature’
Project ‘ and Actif Woods’ Project (delivery partner Small
Woods Association / Coed Lleol). Each of these projects
have encouraged access to the wider countryside through
engagement and delivery of health focused activities.

(vi) Signposting and waymarking is an ongoing task
undertaken under the maintenance and improvement
programmes, as described above. The authority will
attempt to increase the proportion of the network which
is adequately signed and waymarked by 1% a year in line
with Policy M1, and priorities for this work will be as
described in that Policy. However, additional priority will
be given to signposting or waymarking promoted paths
or access areas, including those in the coastal zone.

(vi) The Council has continued to sign and waymark the
network and is committed to renew and replace signs that
form part of significant and / or promoted routes. New
signage was designed and installed for the Wildlife Walks
and more recently, the St. Illtyd’s Walk was re-routed, and
signage updated, as part of a collaborative project with
the Ramblers Association. However, due to staff
pressures, data is not available to quantify the percentage
of the network that is fully waymarked.

POLICY AREA CA: MANAGEMENT OF COUNTRYSIDE ACCESS (OTHER THAN PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY
CA1: Management of open access land provided
under the CROW Act 2000, and common land
The County Borough Council will ensure that open access
land provided under the CROW Act 2000 is accessible
to the public, and this includes areas of common land
which previously had no public rights of access.
The Council will consider public requests for additional
means of entry to access land, and in consultation with
landowners, will assist in providing the necessary
structures subject to the availability of funding.

CA2: Management of access land owned by the
County Borough Council.
The County Borough Council owns considerable areas
of countryside which are already open to public access.
This includes the country parks at Margam, and the Gnoll
as well as land within Afan Forest Park.
The Countryside Section will continue to support efforts
to improve public access to land in Council ownership,
and will work in partnership with Council land managers
on specific projects.

46

The Council has a power (not duty) to provide new access
provision onto open access land. Requests to provide
additional means of access onto common land have been
very limited, however additional access points were
provided at the Common at Barry Road, Lower
Brynamman.

CA3: Management of Long Distance Trails.
The Council considers that the maintenance and
waymarking of the long distance trails which pass through
the County Borough should be considerably improved.
This can only be achieved through partnership working
with the adjacent local authorities and the Forestry
Commission, because some sections of the trails are
permissive routes on FC land and they are not public
rights of way. A coordinated approach to the work is

The Council continues to provide public access to
extensive areas of countryside, including Country Parks
and Local Nature Reserves. In addition, urban green
space provides opportunities to access and benefit from
the natural environment. Budget pressures have reduced
the Council’s resources in maintaining and improving
these areas, however greater use has been made of
external funding, community engagement and partnership
working to ensure these sites remain open and accessible
to the public. The Countryside and Wildlife Team
(formerly Countryside and Biodiversity teams) have
supported these activities and continued to ensure that
Public Rights of Way are maintained within these areas.
Due to budgetary savings and reduction in staff,
opportunities to improve our long distance trails have been
limited, resulting in a need to prioritise on routes.
The Coed Morgannwg Way and Cerdded Bro Nedd are
no longer actively promoted, however Ridgeway path and
St Illtyd’s Walk are still promoted, with an extensive
re-routing and waymarking programme having been
undertaken for St. Illtyd’s Walk. In addition, a new long
distance bridleway has been established; in partnership

Page 98

essential and a group has already been set up to
programme work on the Coed Morgannwg way. It is
proposed that this will be extended to include the
development of other waymarked trails, in order to ensure
that they are managed more effectively.

with the British Horse Society; The Great Dragon Ride,
which links North Wales to South Wales, finishing at
Margam Park.

The Council will survey the former Cerdded Bro Nedd in
order to re-establish this waymarked walk around the Vale
of Neath.

CA4: Development of the Rural Cycle Network

The Council works where possible to develop and improve
provisions for both horse riders and cyclists:

The County Borough Council will improve and extend the
access available to cyclists in the plan period by the
following means:
(i) Improving the standards of maintenance of bridleways
and byways through the policies in this plan.
(ii) Working in partnership with the Forestry Commission
to provide waymarked trails in the forest plantations.
(iii) Extending the rural cycle network in the valley and
coastal areas of the authority area. The following work is
proposed to be undertaken in the plan period:
(a) Cycleway link between Aberafan Seafront and the
Afan Forest Park
(b) Cycleway link between Aberafan Seafront and Brunel
Dock
(c) Cycleway link between the Celtic Trail and the Goytre
to Bryn Cycleway.
(d) Completion of the Amman Valley Cycleway between
Cwmllynfell and Lower Brynamman, in partnership with
Carmarthenshire County Council.
(e) Completion of National Cycle Route 46 between Neath
and Glynneath

(i) Work undertaken as part of the Red Dragon Ride and
schemes undertaken on Byway 1 Port Talbot and Byway
10 Tonna.
(ii) NRW (formerly Forestry Commission) have constructed
numerous mountain bike trails in the Afan Valley.
(iii) See below.
(a) Completed in 2013.
(b) A potential route has been identified through the
Energy Park, however delivery would be dependent on
opportunities to be pursued through development.
(c) As part of the Welsh Government’s Active Travel fund
in 18/19 a feasibility study looked at the route between
Celtic Trail (NCN4) and Goytre to Bryn Cycleway.
Funding opportunities are now being explored.
(d) The cycle route is largely complete from Garnant to
Cwmllynfell, with a short gap near the Washery site in
Lower Brynamman.
(e) A feasibility study was undertaken in 2018/19
identifying where future improvements could be made to
the NCN between Neath and Resolven.

Neath Port Talbot Council - Rights of Way Improvement Plan (2020-2030)-Tracked Changes - February 2020

Appendix B: . ROWIP (2008-2018) - Evaluation of Delivery

(iv) See (ii) above.
(iv) Developing waymarked cycle trails in the forest
plantations
(v) Providing better publicity on the availability of cycling
in Neath Port Talbot.

CA5: Access to the Canal network in Neath Port Talbot
In terms of public access, the Council recognises the
importance of the canal network to persons with mobility
problems and will aim to:
(i) Maintain the sections of canal which are registered
public rights of way to a high standard which will enable
their use by all members of the community.

(v) A cycle leaflet has been produced showing the cycle
routes in the County Borough, see
www.npt.gov.uk/cycling. In collaboration with Swansea
Council a scheme called Swansea Bay Cycle Routes
aimed to promote cycle routes for commuting in the
County Borough, see www.cycleswanseabay.org.uk

Access provision to the canal network has been
maintained with surface improvement works carried out
on significant sections, including non PROW, either as
part of Active Travel, Wales Coast Path or ROWIP funded
schemes. The canal towpaths remain in good condition
and are well used by the public.

Page 99

47

Appendix B: . ROWIP (2008-2018) - Evaluation of Delivery

Neath Port Talbot Council - Rights of Way Improvement Plan (2020-2030)-Tracked Changes - February 2020

(ii) Maintain public access to the Swansea Canal Nature
Reserve between Ynysmeudwy and Ystalyfera.
(iii) Continue to promote public access to the remainder
of the canal network under on-going access agreements.

CA6: Coastal Access Improvement Programme
The County Borough Council is committed to participating
in the national Coastal Access Improvement Programme
which is being implemented as a partnership between the
coastal local authorities and CCW.
The project will have two main aims:
(i) To create an All Wales Coastal Path. It is envisaged
that this will be completed by 2012.

The Wales Coast Path was opened on 5 May 2012, and
offers a 870-mile (1,400 km) walking route from Chepstow
in the south to Queensferry, Flintshire, in the north.
Due to restrictions along the coastline in Neath Port
Talbot, two routes were opened in Neath Port Talbot, an
upland and lowland route. In addition to utilisation of
existing routes, a new Public Right of Way was created
to enable access into Kenfig National Nature Reserve in
Bridgend, and an access agreement was secured to
create a new permissive route from Briton Ferry along
the coastline to Aberafan Seafront.

(ii) To carry out other coastal access improvements within
a notional 2km strip inland of the high water mark.

48

Page 100

Appendix C: Priority Criteria for Claimed PROW and Other
Orders
Table C.0.1 Priority Criteria for Claimed PROW and Other Orders (e.g. Downgrading
and Extinguishment)
CRITERIA

POINTS

Path has recently been obstructed:
(a) Where the obstruction renders the path inaccessible

10

(b) Where the obstruction results in access being inconvenient

2

Threatened by development

10

Currently in use or in use just prior to claim

4

(That is, it is not a retrospective claim based on use which has long ceased, but there is a demand, well
supported)

Fills a gap in the network (useful short cut), contributes significantly to the ROWIP or is of strategic importance.
This may include re-alignment

2

Elderly users

4

(There is a risk the evidence will be lost, could create a significant delay or additional work in assessing
evidence, resulting in a failed claim which would otherwise had better prospects)

Access to sites of historic, scientific or scenic interest

1

Used by a wide section of the public:
(a) Would benefit the wider community e.g. less able people, use by push chairs and multi reasons for use
i.e. attend school, surgery, Post Office, shops, bus stops

2

(b) Claimed bridleway, could benefit three categories of users

2

Avoids busy roads and/or improves public safety

2

Neath Port Talbot Council - Rights of Way Improvement Plan (2020-2030)-Tracked Changes - February 2020

Appendix C: . Priority Criteria for Claimed PROW and Other Orders

Application to delete/downgrade/re-align:
(a) Affects promoted route or regional trail

5

(b) Where evidently an error exists

10

Application supported by 6 or less

0

Application supported by 10 to 20

1

Application supported by over 20

2

Application outstanding for up to 5 years

1

Application outstanding for up to 6-10 years

2

Application outstanding for up to 11-15 years

3

Application outstanding for up to 16-20 years

4

Page 101

49

Appendix C: . Priority Criteria for Claimed PROW and Other Orders

Neath Port Talbot Council - Rights of Way Improvement Plan (2020-2030)-Tracked Changes - February 2020

C.1 Any application that does not score any points will be prioritised according to the
date the application was made.

50

Page 102

Page 103

Page 104

APPENDIX 3 – ROWIP (2020-2030) First Stage Integrated Impact Assessment
1. Details of the Initiative:
Initiative Description/Summary: Consideration of: the responses to the comments received following consultation on the draft Rights of Way Improvement Plan
(ROWIP), setting out the means by which the Council intends to improve and promote access to the countryside across the County over the next 10 years.
Service Area: Planning and Public Protection
Directorate:

Environment

2. Does the initiative affect:
Yes

No



Service Users



Staff

Page 105



Wider Community
Internal administrative process only

3. Does the initiative impact on people because of their:
Yes

No

Age



Disability



Gender Reassignment



Marriage/Civil Partnership



Pregnancy/Maternity



Race



Religion/Belief



Sex



Sexual orientation



None/
Negligible

Don’t
Know

Impact
H/M/L

Reasons for your decision (including evidence)/How might it
impact?

Plan is intended to be inclusive aiming at encouraging greater use of
Public Rights of Way and the wider countryside by all community
members.

9

4. Does the initiative impact on:
Yes

No

None/
Negligible

Don’t
know

Impact
H/M/L

Reasons for your decision (including evidence used) / How might it
impact?

People’s opportunities to
use the Welsh language



Plan will be inclusive aiming at encouraging all community members to be
involved. Plan and all public communications will be bilingual.

Treating the Welsh
language no less
favourably than English



Plan will be inclusive aiming at encouraging all community members to be
involved. Plan and all public communications will be bilingual.

5. Does the initiative impact on biodiversity:

Page 106

Yes

To maintain and enhance
biodiversity

To promote the resilience
of ecosystems, i.e.
supporting protection of the
wider environment, such as
air quality, flood alleviation,
etc.

No

None/
Negligible

Don’t
know





Impact
H/M/L

Reasons for your decision (including evidence) /
How might it impact?

L

Service Assessment has been carried as part of the Biodiversity Duty Plan
requirements, and appropriate working practices are in place to avoid impact
on biodiversity. Policy for the protection of biodiversity is embedded into the
ROWIP.

L

Service Assessment has been carried as part of the Biodiversity Duty Plan
requirements. Appropriate working practices are in place to allow continuation
of necessary works whilst minimising any impact on the resilience of
ecosystems.
The ROWIP supports promotion of countryside access and greater
engagement with the natural environment, leading to improved awareness and
understanding of biodiversity and ecosystem resilience.

6. Does the initiative embrace the sustainable development principle (5 Ways of Working):
Yes

No

Details

10

Page 107

Long term - how the initiative supports the
long term well-being of people



Plan is promoting greater engagement and awareness with the natural environment, leading to
long term improvements to health and well-being of users.

Integration - how the initiative impacts
upon our wellbeing objectives



The Plan delivers against a range of plans and initiatives, links with which have been identified
with the Plan. Local Well-being objectives have been reflected within the Plan, and its felt that
delivery against the Plan will contribute towards these goals.

Involvement - how people have been
involved in developing the initiative



A consultation process was undertaken prior to commencement of this review, and has
informed the decision to undertake the review, as well as the content of the plan itself.
Furthermore, wider relevant consultations were assessed as part of the process. A further
public consultation process will be undertaken of the draft plan.

Collaboration - how we have worked with
other services/organisations to find shared
sustainable solutions



Internal consultation of the draft plan has been carried out and built into the content of this
Plan.



The Plan is providing a framework for the effective management of our Public Rights of Way,
looking to undertake necessary maintenance works before problems deteriorate. Delivery of
the Plan will provide the opportunity for residents and visitors to be more physically active,
leading to improved health, whilst participation in the natural environment leads to improved
mental well-being, in the short term and in the long term.

Prevention - how the initiative will prevent
problems occurring or getting worse

7. Declaration - based on above assessment (tick as appropriate):
A full impact assessment (second stage) is not required



Reasons for this Conclusion
Equalities – The Plan is outlining an inclusive and community focused approach to management, and promotion, of the Public Rights of Way and wider
countryside, ensuring that groups of people are not disadvantaged.
Welsh Language – Plan will be inclusive aiming at encouraging all community members to be involved. Plan and all public communications will be bilingual.
Biodiversity – A policy is integrated into the Plan to ensure negative impacts on biodiversity are avoided. Working methodologies will be underpinned by this
policy.
Well-being of Future Generation (5 ways of Working) – The 5 ways of working has been followed in the review of the Plan, and will continue to be followed in
delivery of the plan.

11

A full impact assessment (second stage) is required
Reasons for this conclusion

Name

Position

Date

Completed by

Catrin Evans

Countryside & Wildlife Team Leader

14/02/2020

Signed off by

Ceri Morris

Head of Planning and Public Protection

20/02/2020

Page 108
12

